CENTRO DE ESTUDIOS SOBRE CHINA Y ASIA-PACÍFICO



# **China and Asia-Pacific in the World Economy: Trends and Opportunities for Peru**

# Dra. Rosario Santa Gadea

Director Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies Universidad del Pacífico

> Working Paper Series N° 1 November 2020

#### About this initiative

The purpose of the *Working Paper Series of the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies* is to publish studies in lines of research explored by this center in order to disseminate their findings and promote an exchange of ideas that could contribute to future publications. This working paper series will be composed of documents prepared by the direction, research affiliates, and invited experts. The content of the documents published, including findings, interpretations, and conclusions, are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the view of Universidad del Pacífico or the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies of this university.

#### About the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies

The Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies was established in January 2013. It constitutes a pioneering initiative of Universidad del Pacífico in the framework of its institutional internationalization, driven by the importance attained by China and the Asia-Pacific region in the world economy and for Peru in particular. It seeks to offer insights with a long-term and strategic perspective of China and Asia-Pacific on economic development, markets, and international relations, among other topics, while promoting close collaborations with experts from academic institutions from China and other Asian economies. To realize this objective, the center develops and promotes research; symposiums, conferences and workshops; academic exchanges; and training activities.

#### How to cite this working paper (APA Style 7th edition)

Santa Gadea, R. (2020). China and Asia-Pacific in the World Economy: Trends and Opportunities for Peru. *Working Paper N° 1.* Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies, Universidad del Pacífico.

#### <u>Note</u>

This document has been the basis of three forthcoming publications. The first one is entitled "The Chinese Economy in the Context of Globalization: Trends and Opportunities for Peru", which is a chapter of the book "Striving for Comprehensive Development: 19 Studies for the Bicentennial of Peru" (En Búsqueda de un Desarrollo Integral: 19 Ensayos en torno al Perú del Bicentenario) edited by the Research Center of the Universidad del Pacífico (Centro de Investigación de la Universidad del Pacífico – CIUP). Said chapter is a synthesis of the first section of this working paper.

The second forthcoming publication is entitled "Asia-Pacific in the World Economy: Trends and Opportunities for Peru", which is composed of subsections 2.1 to 2.3 of the present working paper. That paper was presented at the APEC Study Center Consortium Conference (ASCCC) organized by the Institute of Malaysian and International Studies (IKMAS), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, held on September 23, 2020 and it will be part of the documents published as a result of said event.

The third forthcoming publication is also entitled "The Chinese Economy in the Context of Globalization: Trends and Opportunities for Peru", Trends and Opportunities for Peru" and it is comprised of the full-version of this Working Paper's first section. This third paper was presented at the 9th China-Latin America High-Level Forum organized by the Universidad de Santiago de Chile, which was held on October 27 and 29, 2020. Likewise, it will be part of the documents published as a result of this event.

This study has benefited from the valuable contributions from two research assistants, the economists **Gabriel Arrieta** and **Favio Leiva**. They are, respectively, research affiliate and assistant to the director of the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies of Universidad del Pacífico. The author acknowledges and expresses her sincere gratitude for their support. Furthermore, the author would like to thank **Leolino Dourado**, who also is a research affiliate at this center, for his comments on this research and his collaboration on the translation into English of the study, from its original version in Spanish, and the final edition of this document.

This research finished in June 2020, but some pieces of data were updated to October or November 2020. However, there has not been a systematic update of the entire document.

#### About the author

Rosario Santa Gadea is the director of the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies at Universidad del Pacífico, Peru. She holds a doctor's and a master's degree in International Economics from Université de Paris Ouest Nanterre La Défense (France) and a bachelor's degree in Economics from Universidad del Pacífico (Peru). She has been a fellow at the Weatherhead Center for International Affairs of Harvard University (USA) and a visiting research fellow at the Shanghai Institutes for International Studies (China). Dr. Santa Gadea has worked as an advisor to Peruvian ministers of Foreign Affairs, Defense, Economics and Presidency of the Council of Ministers, national coordinator of Peru at the Initiative for the Integration of Regional Infrastructure of South America, executive secretary of the Peruvian Center for International Studies, coordinator of the Institute for European-Latin American Relations (Madrid), official at the General Secretariat of the Andean Community, ad consultant for the Inter-American Development Bank, among other positions. Her research work includes books, articles, chapters, and working papers published in Latin America, China, the United States and Europe. She specializes in international trade and investment, comparative economic development, connectivity and regional integration. Currently, her research is focused on the Belt and Road Initiative, China-Latin America economic relations, Asia-Pacific in the globalized world economy and opportunities for Peru.

#### CHINA AND ASIA-PACIFIC IN THE WORLD ECONOMY:

#### TRENDS AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR PERU

Dr. Rosario Santa Gadea

#### Abstract

In 2021, Peru celebrates the bicentennial of its independence and also the 50th anniversary of the establishment of diplomatic relations with the People's Republic of China. Therefore, it is a timely occasion to reflect about what the agenda for Peru-China relations in the next decades should be, as well as to identify the Peruvian priorities in Asia-Pacific. Both questions are interconnected due to the central role of China in the context of the Peruvian insertion in that region. To contribute to this strategic planning, this study seeks to provide insights on the transformation of the Chinese economy and the trends for its future, as well as its international economic strategy. Furthermore, it also offers a comparative analysis between Peru and the economies of Asia and Oceania in the Pacific basin which are members of APEC, based on various indicators of competitiveness and productivity. This comparison aims at providing insights to enrich the bilateral agenda of Peru with China and Asia-Pacific in a way that contributes to structural changes in Peru. Finally, this study explores how China and Asia-Pacific are considered in the Peruvian national strategic planning. It shows an important weakness: the lack of a clearly defined vision for the country's insertion in the global economy, an issue which is reflected into the Peruvian economic projection towards China and Asia-Pacific. Therefore, it is necessary to define this vision for the country's insertion in the global economy and measures to realize it. For that purpose, the conclusions and recommendations from this study could be useful in regards to China and Asia-Pacific economies.

**Keywords**: economic transformation of China; Belt and Road Initiative; comparative analysis of Peru with Asia-Pacific economies; China and Asia-Pacific in the Peruvian national strategic planning; China and the United States and the world technological leadership

### **Table of Contents**

List of Figures
List of Tables5
List of Maps6
Introduction7
Section 1. Transformation and internationalization of the Chinese economy, future trends and implications for Peru9
1.1. The transformation of the Chinese economy after four decades of high growth9
1.2. The Internationalization of the Chinese economy: trade and investment liberalization
1.3. Chinese economy towards 2050: vision and goals
1.4. The Belt and Road Initiative: opportunities for Peru?
1.5. Tension between the United States and China for world leadership
Section 2. Challenges for the Peruvian insertion in the Pacific basin
2.1. The Asian economies of the Pacific basin: relative importance and dynamism 29
2.2. Panorama of the Peruvian trade with Asia-Pacific: concentration vs diversification
2.3. Comparative analysis between Peru and Asia-Pacific economies: the challenge of competitiveness and productivity
2.4. China and Asia-Pacific in national plans
Conclusions
References
Acronyms
Annex 1: Figures
Annex 2: Tables
Annex 3: Maps

## List of Figures

Figure 1	GDP growth in China and the world and China's share of the world GDP 1960-2018 (in % and in constant 2010 dollars)
Figure 2	Percentage distribution of China's GDP from the expenditure perspective: consumption and investment 1952-2018 (in current yuan)67
Figure 3	GDP per capita and average productivity per worker 1961-2018 (in %)68
Figure 4	Evolution of TFP in China in constant national prices 1956-2017 (2011 = 1)
Figure 5	Percentage composition of China's GDP in current yuan by sector 1952-2018 (in %)
Figure 6	Urban-rural distribution of the total population in China 1952-2018 (in %)69
Figure 7	Percentage evolution of employment by sector 1952-201870
Figure 8	Evolution of poverty and extreme poverty in China 1981-2015 (in %)70
Figure 9	Shares of China, the European Union, and the United States in world exports 2001-2018 (in %)71
Figure 10	Flows of IFDI and OFDI to and from China 1990-2018 (in billions of US\$)71
Figure 11	Evolution of the US trade deficit with China and its share of the total deficit 2001-2018 (in billions of US\$ and %)
Figure 12	Number of patents granted by China and the USA in high-technology sectors 2010-2018
Figure 13	Percentage of population using the internet in China 2000-201773
Figure 14	Connections in China by technology generation 2017-2025 (% of total)73
Figure 15	Share of regions in the world GDP 1980-2019 (in %)74
Figure 16	Average economic growth rates by regions of the world 2000-2019 (in %)74 $$
Figure 17	Share of regions in world exports 2001-2018 (in %)75
Figure 18	Share of region in world manufacturing exports in 2001 and 2018 (in %)75
Figure 19	Share of regions in world trade in services in 2005, 2010, 2015 and 2018 (in %) $\ldots$ 76
Figure 20	IFDI and OFDI stocks to and from Asia-16 economies (in billions of US\$)76
Figure 21	Peruvian exports to selected regions and countries 2000-2019 (millions of US\$) $\ldots$ 77
Figure 22	Peruvian trade balance with Asia-Pacific 2000-2019 (in millions of US\$)77
Figure 23	Share of non-traditional Peruvian exports in the trade with its main trading partners 2000-2019 (in %)
Figure 24	Comparison between Peru, People's Republic of China, and the most competitive economy in Asia-16 by pillars of the Global Competitiveness Index 201979
Figure 25	Trade openness index in Asia-16 economies and Peru in 2018 (trade as a % of GDP)
Figure 26	Average tariff in Asia-16 economies and Peru in 2018 (in %)81

### List of Tables

Table 1	Labor productivity: average annual growth in Asia-16 economies of and Peru 1990-2018 (in %)	82
Table 2	Top 10 destinations of FDI (stock) in 1980, 2000 and 2018 (in billions of US\$)	83
Table 3	Top 10 sources of FDI (stock) in 1981, 2000 and 2018 (in billions of US\$)	83
Table 4	Economic corridors and other projects that catalyze and support connectivity in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative	84
Table 5	Countries that have signed cooperation agreements in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative (by continents)	85
Table 6	South America-China trade by country in 2018 (in billions of US\$ and in %)	36
Table 7	Asia-Pacific exports to the world in 2001 and 2018 (in billions of US\$)	36
Table 8	Asia-Pacific trade within the region and with the world in 2001 and 2018 (in billions of US\$ and in %)	87
Table 9	Share and average growth rate of Peruvian exports to selected regions and countries 2000-2019 (in millions of US\$ and in %)	87
Table 10	Peruvian exports to the Asia-Pacific region in 2000 and 2019 (in millions of US\$ and share %)	38
Table 1	1 Sectoral composition of Peruvian exports to Asia-Pacific in 2000 and 2019 (in millions of US\$ and share %)	88
Table 12	2 Peruvian mining exports, copper and its main products in 2000 and 2019 (in millions of US\$ and share %)	39
Table 13	B Sectoral composition of Peruvian exports to the People's Republic of China in 2000 and 2019 (in millions of US\$ and share %)	90
Table 14	Trade agreements of Peru with economies in the Asia-Pacific region	90
Table 15	Classification of Asia-16 economies and Peru according to income level in 2018 (GNI per capita, Atlas method)	91
Table 16	Global Competitiveness Index 2019: Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the global index	92
Table 17	Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Infrastructure" pillar. Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking	93
Table 18	Global Competitiveness Index 2019: Transportation by road, air and sea. Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking	94
Table 19	Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Skills," "ICT Adoption" and "Innovation Capability" pillars. Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking	95
Table 20	Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Macroeconomic Stability," "Institutions" and "Business Dynamism" Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking	96
Table 21	Logistic Performance Index 2018: Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking	97
Table 22	2 Labor productivity in 1990 and 2018 (in constant 2011 PPP dollars)	98

## List of Maps

Map 1 Main maritime and land routes in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative	99
Map 2 Original economic corridors of the Belt and Road Initiative	100
Map 3 Latin American countries participating in Belt and Road Initiative	101
Map 4 South America-Asia-Pacific connectivity: The potential role of Peru	102
Map 5 Transcontinental digital connectivity	103
Map 6 Asia-16: Economies from Asia and Oceania in the Pacific Basin members of APEC	104

#### Introduction

Forty years of economic reforms and opening-up in the People's Republic of China (hereinafter China) brought forth several important results for this economy and greatly strengthened its role in the world economy. It is important to explore this process of transformation of China, as it shows trends for the future. The first of them concerns the Chinese goal of further upgrading its role in the global economy, from "the world's factory" to a technological and innovation powerhouse. The second trend is the annual growth rate slowdown, which would constitute the so-called "new normal" for the Chinese economy. The third one refers to China's deeper economic integration with developing countries, not only in Asia, but also in Africa and Latin America, through the Belt and Road Initiative. Notably, one of the fundamental pillars of this initiative is connectivity, which is based on economic corridors that encompass various components, such as: production delocalization, investment in infrastructure, trade facilitation, among others.

China already is the main trading partner of Peru—having displaced the United States from that position—and it is also an increasingly important partner in terms of investments. However, Peru-China economic relations still follow a very traditional pattern. In trade, Peru exports predominantly raw materials and, in investments, the Chinese have focused largely on extractive sectors. To a certain extent, this pattern is moving towards greater diversification, but it is necessary to establish a long-term strategy aimed at transforming these relations into a driver that contributes to structural changes in Peru and an improved economic insertion in the Pacific Basin. To do so, Peru should harness the opportunities provided by the new trends and the international economic strategy of the Chinese economy.

Furthermore, it is advisable to reflect on and define the main focus of the Peruvian efforts regarding its insertion in the Pacific basin. To that end, helpful insights can be drawn from a comparative analysis between Peru and the 16 economies of Asia and Oceania in the Pacific basin which are members of the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) based on some economic indicators, such as per capita income, competitiveness, logistic costs, trade openness, productivity, among others. It is common practice to compare Peru with the rest of Latin American, but doing so with respect to Asian economies reveals how Peru lags behind Asia-Pacific economies.

Peru has the important challenge of increasing competitiveness and productivity. That priority should also be reflected in the Peruvian agenda with the economies "on the other side" of the Pacific basin so that the engagement with those economies contribute not only to sustaining economic growth, but also to promoting economic and social development.

To explore these topics, this working paper has been structured in two sections. In the first one, it addresses the transformation, internationalization and future trends of the Chinese economy and the implications for Peru. This section is aimed at attaining a deeper understanding of the Chinese development and structural transformation in recent decades. For that purpose, it analyzes the drivers and trends of economic growth and changes in the productive and social structure (subsection 1.1). It also examines the patterns followed by the internationalization of the Chinese economy regarding trade and investment (subsection 1.2).

The formulation of systematic policies, national plans and long-term goals are a permanent institutional component of China, so it is essential to have a grasp of them in order to understand the course of the Chinese transformation (subsection 1.3). An analysis of the Belt and Road Initiative complements this reflection (subsection 1.4). Due to its special relevance for developing countries, this initiative presents a framework that

Peru can use to address the recommendations offered by this study in order to enrich its relations with China, especially considering the role that the country could play in transpacific connectivity. Finally, to put the present analysis in context, it looks into the current state of affairs on the global stage, which is marked by tensions between the two leading economies, the United States and China (subsection 1.5).

The second section of this research analyzes the challenges for the Peruvian economic insertion in the Pacific basin. This region stands out for its economic experiences and dynamism, which contributes significantly to economic growth globally. Various experts consider the 21st century as the "Pacific Century", as countries like China would reach the levels of economic development necessary to become fully developed economies. This section is divided into an exploration of the importance and dynamism of Asia-Pacific economies (subsection 2.1), a panorama of Peru–Asia-Pacific commercial relations and pending challenges (subsection 2.2), and a comparative analysis of Peru with respect to the economies in this region (subsection 2.3). This panorama shows that there are interesting references in Asia and Oceania with which Peru should explore lessons learned that could contribute to its own development process, especially considering that the Peruvian economy lags significantly behind this group.

Finally, the study examines China and Asia-Pacific in the Peruvian national plans, analyzing to what extent national visions and plans pay attention to this region (subsection 2.4). To this end, firstly, it explores how the international economic insertion of Peru is considered in national strategic planning at a more general level. Secondly, it identifies any references to China and Asia-Pacific in that framework. The analysis shows that Peru has an important weakness, which is the lack of a clearly defined vision for the country's insertion in the global economy, an issue which is also reflected in the Peruvian economic projection towards China and Asia-Pacific. Hopefully, the insights offered by this study can contribute to addressing this pending task.

The present research includes an extensive bibliographic and statistical study that has been possible thanks to the valuable contribution of two research assistants. Gabriel Arrieta, economist from Pontificia Universidad Católica del Peru. He currently is a research affiliate at the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies and has been assistant to the Economics, Business and International Relations Area of the Research Center of the Universidad del Pacífico (Centro de Investigación de la Universidad del Pacífico, CIUP). And Favio Leiva, who holds a master's degree in International Economic Development from the University of Nagoya (Japan) and a bachelor's degree in Economics from Universidad del Pacífico. He is currently assistant to the director of the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies. The author acknowledges and expresses her sincere gratitude for their support. The author also would like to thank Leolino Dourado for his valuable comments on this research and his collaboration on the translation of the study, from its original version in Spanish, and the final edition of this document. He holds a master's degree in International Relations from Peking University, currently is a research affiliate and former assistant to the director of the Center for China Studies and Asia-Pacific at Universidad del Pacífico.

Furthermore, this research benefited from meetings held with experts to discuss the approach and some of the recommendations of this study. In this regard, the author would like to express her sincere gratitude to Ambassador Allan Wagner Tizón, director of the Diplomatic Academy of Peru, former minister of Foreign Affairs and former president of the APEC Vision Group (AVG). He offered valuable commentary on this research in the conference "Bicentennial Project of Peru: Contributions for its Development" organized by CIUP on May 28 and 29, 2020. Subsection 1.5 of this document incorporates the full version of said commentary. It is also worth highlighting the meetings held with Dr. Javier Abugattás, president of the Board of Directors of the

National Center for Strategic Planning of Peru (Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico – CEPLAN) and with Ambassador Elard Escala, then director general for Asia and Oceania of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Peru (Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores del Peru – MRE). A special thank you to them for the information and guidance offered.

Finally, the author would like to acknowledge and express her appreciation to Professor Zhang Jun, dean of the School of Economics and director of the China Center for Economic Studies att Fudan University. He was the keynote speaker at the annual international symposium organized by the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies at Universidad del Pacífico, which was held on August 20, 2019 at the university campus. Professor Zhang delivered a presentation on "The Transformation of the Chinese Economy: Four Decades of Reforms and Internationalization. What's next?". His insightful presentation has contributed greatly to guide the work carried out in this study, as it helped identify the main characteristics of the transformation of the Chinese economy.

It should be noted that the interpretations contained in this working paper, as well as any errors that may exist, are the sole responsibility of the author.

#### Section 1. Transformation and internationalization of the Chinese economy, future trends and implications for Peru

#### 1.1. The transformation of the Chinese economy after four decades of high growth

China holds the position of second or even first economy in the world in terms of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), depending on the method used to measure it. Based on GDP in current dollars, China is the second economy since 2010 (World Bank, 2020b). However, in terms of GDP in purchasing power parity (PPP) in constant 2011 dollars, China has been the leading world economy since 2014 (Hawksworth et al. 2017).

According to various growth theories (Solow, 1956), there are three major drivers of GDP growth: 1) employment growth, 2) GDP per capita growth, and 3) Total Factor Productivity (TFP) growth. Other approaches correlate growth to rural-urban migration and the structural change from agriculture to industry (Lewis, 1954; Todaro, 1969). In this subsection, this study analyzes the transformation of the Chinese economy concerning these variables.

#### Capital and savings accumulation as drivers of growth

After the economic reforms introduced in 1978 (Chow, 2004; Zhang, 2018), the Chinese annual economic growth rate became substantially higher than the world average in the period 1978-2018 (9.4% and 2.9%, respectively) and growth volatility decreased. From another perspective, the Chinese share in the world GDP grew from 1.1% in 1960 to 13.1% in 2018 (in constant 2010 dollars), as shown in Figure 1. Naturally, this period of sustained growth contributed to a substantial increase of the GDP per capita and life expectancy. The country also upheld high levels of investments and savings as a percentage of the GDP (Ang, 2009; Curtis et al., 2011; Yao et al., 2011; Zhang, 2019).

A strategy based on high levels of investments necessarily results in increased savings, which can be external or internal. In the case of China, it was internal savings (Zhang, 2019), mainly from companies and individuals, rather than from the government.

Companies, in particular, benefited from low interest rates and tax breaks to promote investments, which contributed to productivity growth.

However, it should be noted that these high rates of savings are not sustainable in the very long term (Barro, 2016). Regarding China, Figure 2 shows that the share of investments in the GDP has been decreasing, as the growth model is changing towards one that is based more on domestic consumption (which will be analyzed later in this section).

#### Productivity growth and production structural change

The Chinese GDP per capita has grown steadily at an annual rate of 3.2% between 1960 and 1978, and at an average of 8.4% after that period (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2019a; World Bank, 2020b). Such growth rates are higher than the United States and the world averages, which has been progressively reducing the gap between China and United States, at the same time as it has been pushing the giant Asian up in the world ranking on GDP per capita (Zhang, 2019). Figure 3 shows an extremely high correlation between GDP per capita growth rates and the average productivity per worker.

It should also be noted that, according to the information provided by Feenstra et al. (2015), based on Penn World Tables, China experienced a decreasing or stagnant TFP growth rate until the economic reforms and opening-up policy were introduced in 1978. They represented a turning point for productivity levels, as it went on a rising trend afterwards (see Figure 4). Such growth is directly linked to structural changes in China, which can be seen in the following developments: 1) rural-urban migration, 2) increased GDP of the manufacturing and services sector, and 3) employment growth in these sectors.

Prior to the reforms promoted by Deng Xiaoping, the agriculture sector's relative contribution to the GDP was already declining and manufacturing was rising. However, after the reforms, the share of agriculture fell considerably, while manufacturing remained relatively constant at around 46% of the GDP (see Figure 5). As for the services sector's share, it began to grow substantially after the financial crisis of 2008 (Zhao & Tang, 2015).

Considering this development and the most recent trends, Figure 5 suggests that the GDP of the services sector would settle at around 52% of the total, whereas manufacturing would remain close to 40% and agriculture would drop to 8%.

#### Rural-urban migration and the evolution of employment

Urban growth is a challenging process observed in all developing countries. China managed and planned well this process, including the necessary investments in infrastructure to promote connectivity between urban centers, which contributed to the proper integration of migrant workers into productive jobs, while also limiting the number of low-productivity employment. China's urban population has grown steadily vis-à-vis the rural population, as observed in Figure 6. The former demographic group represented about 12.5% of the population in 1952, compared to almost 60% in 2018. The turning point occurred in 1978 (World Bank, 2020b), coinciding with the economic reforms introduced in that year (Zhang, 2018 and 2019).

The urban population growth increased productivity. The current challenge for China is to implement policies aimed at adjusting the population distribution in urban areas (Shen et al., 2019). Relatedly, the Chinese population growth rate has been constantly decreasing for decades. On the one hand, according to Barro (2016), it has been

contributing to raising the GDP per capita growth rate. However, on the other hand, this trend also poses challenges, as low fertility leads to an aging society, which puts pressure on the pension and welfare systems (Campbell, 2019).

From another perspective, foreign direct investment (FDI) has also been playing a very important role in increasing productivity as a result of know-how transfer, among other factors. It has also contributed to creating thousands of jobs for the population that migrated from the countryside to the city. Figure 7 shows the evolution of employment by sectors in China.

Currently, one fifth of the economically active population works in agriculture and lives in rural areas, which suggests that there would still be room for modernization and structural change in the country (Zhang, 2019). Along these lines, Wei and Kwan (2018) indicated that there is still room for such changes in various Chinese provinces. This would help realize China's growth potential for decades to come.

#### Poverty reduction and inequality rise

A high-growth strategy that properly manages urban-rural migration contributes to reducing poverty (Ravallion, 2011). Data from the World Bank (2020a) shows that poverty levels in China have decreased dramatically, from 99.1% in 1981 to 5.4% in 2016. Extreme poverty specifically has dropped from 88.3% in 1981 to 0.5% in 2015 (see Figure 8).

According to the most recent estimates from China, poverty would represent only 1.7% of the total rural population in 2018 (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2019b)<sup>1</sup>. It should be observed that the methodology adopted is not necessarily comparable to that of the World Bank. Naturally, these achievements are analyzed in various publications and constitute one of the most remarkable results from the economic growth and structural changes carried out in China. However, it is important to note that a strategy dedicated to fighting poverty was also at play, including several specific programs targeting rural areas (Liu et al., 2020).

Notwithstanding, some analysts consider that China went "from equality of deprivation to disparity of prosperity" (Wan et al., 2018). The various estimates of inequality show that it has grown from the time reforms were introduced up to the international financial crisis of 2008, remaining stable since then<sup>2</sup>. The highest level of inequality seems to be between rural and urban areas, rather than within those groups.

#### China's new normal and the change of driver of economic growth

High levels of savings and investments in China resulted in overcapacity, which generated an oversupply that needs to be absorbed by foreign markets (Amighini, 2016). Furthermore, the 40 years of rapid dynamism led to an increase in labor costs, which contributed to lowering growth rates (Zhang, 2019). Accordingly, China has moved towards a new growth model based more on domestic demand, instead of continuing to depend mainly on the international market, which entails reducing the overinvestment that has historically been occurring in the country (Schnabl, 2019). This model would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The source consulted does not include data on poverty with respect to urban population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The GINI coefficient measures the level of inequality in a country. A Gini index of 0 represents perfect equality, while an index of 1 implies perfect inequality. In the case of China, some of the existing estimates include: around 0.55 (Piketty et al., 2019), between 0.4473 and 0.394, depending on whether adjustments are made or not (Ravallion & Chen, 2007) and 0.437 (World Bank, 2020a).

count with a growing middle-class that can sustain long-term consumption (World Economic Forum, 2018).

Under the current "new normal" phase, growth rates are expected to remain at around 6.5%, according to the Chinese five-year plans (see subsection 1.3). Figure 1 indicates that annual growth rates fell below 10% in the period after 2010, reaching 6.6% in 2018. Most recently, it is estimated that the country grew 6.1% in 2019 (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2020), which is within the expected range.

Undoubtedly, China represents an interesting case to be studied due to the experiences and lessons that can be learned from its transformation process. Its strength is based on, among other factors, being the economy that has had the highest productivity growth in Asia-Pacific since 1990 (see Table 1). Looking ahead, it is projected that China will be the world's leading economy by 2050. The most significant changes would happen in the composition of the top five biggest economies. According to Hawksworth et al. (2017), China, India, the United States, Indonesia and Brazil, in that order, would compose the top five by 2050 (in terms of GDP PPP constant 2011 dollars).

# 1.2. The internationalization of the Chinese economy: trade and investment liberalization

In the past four decades, China went on from being an economy practically in autarky and lagging behind to reaching important levels of openness, as observed in the increased level of trade and foreign direct investments (both inward and outward).

#### World's leading exporter and a top destination and source of FDI

China has become the world's leading exporting economy. In fact, its share in global exports has grown steadily over the last twenty years, propelling the country to surpass the United States in 2006 and the European Union in 2014 (EU). In 2018, China accounted for 12.3% of world exports, while the EU and the United States reached 11.4% and 7.0% respectively. The share attained by the Chinese represented a three-fold increase in relation to that of 2001 (see Figure 9).

The process of transformation of the Chinese economy involved a growing participation in global networks for the production of goods. Indeed, China acquired the central role of the "world's factory" and is considered one of the few developing countries to be deeply integrated into global value chains (World Bank et al, 2017).

Nonetheless, in addition to labor-intensive activities, which were considered as China's main comparative advantage in the past decades, the country has increased its industrial capacity to produce and export high-technology goods, moving up the global value chains. To do so, it has delocalized part of its productive capacity to other countries, boosted connectivity and innovation, and introduced improvements in production processes to reduce costs (World Bank et al., 2017, pp. 65, 133).

Regarding inward FDI, China accumulated a stock of US\$ 1.1 billion in 1980, which made the country only the 46th most important destination of foreign investments worldwide. By 2000, the same stock reached US\$ 193.1 billion, placing China in the 8th position in the world ranking. Finally, by 2018, the stock of FDI in China reached US\$ 1,6 trillion, effectively putting the country among the top five destinations of foreign investments (see Table 2). Another fact to consider is that China is the main destination of investments in manufacturing in the Asia-Pacific region (APEC, 2016).

The evolution of Chinese outward direct investments presents a similar picture. In 1981, the Chinese stock of FDI overseas only reached about US\$ 40 million, ranking 46th in the world. By 2000, that stock rose to \$ 27.8 billion, corresponding to the 22nd position worldwide. Finally, China reached position number 3, after the United States and the Netherlands, with a stock of US \$ 1,9 trillion in 2018 (see Table 3).

In any case, it is important note that data on FDI can present certain distortions. A study published by the International Monetary Fund indicates that 40% of the world's FDI could be considered "phantom investments", that is, investments in "empty corporate shells" located in tax havens that only work as intermediaries. Some of the most important financial centers where this process occur includes the Netherlands and Hong Kong (Damgaard, Elkjaer, & Johannesen, 2019, pp. 26-27). In the case of China, the reported data is distorted by the so-called "round trip investment", which refers to Chinese investments in tax havens (especially Hong Kong) that later return as inward FDI in order to take advantage of lower taxes and other benefits (OECD, 2011, p. 185; Xiao, 2004, p. 11). This "round trip investment" would have reached a quarter of the stock of FDI in China by 2017 (Damgaard, Elkjaer, & Johannesen, 2019, p. 2019, p. 18).

Despite these observations, it is clear that China is playing an increasingly important role in regards to investments. Both tables put in evidence the remarkable evolution of China as a destination and a source of foreign investments, which placed the country among the top world economies in terms of inward and outward FDI.

#### Special economic zones to attract investments and process exports

Aiming at modernizing the economy, the reform process introduced by Deng Xiaoping focused on global markets as one of its centerpieces (Naughton, 1993), which resulted in increased exports and inward foreign investments (Zhu, 2018). One of its main specific policies was the establishment of a Special Economic Zone (SEZ) in Shenzhen (in the southern province of Guangdong), which was considered as the great "window to the outside" (Yuan et al., 2010). Bureaucratic and fiscal restrictions were relaxed in SEZs (in Shenzhen and elsewhere) to provide a preferential treatment in relation to the rest of the country (Jenkins, 2019, pp. 16-17).

Four SEZs were created initially (Shenzhen, Zhuhai, and Shantou in Guangdong province, and Xiamen in Fujian province), which became the main initiatives to attract FDI (Jenkins, 2019; Stoltenberg, 1984). These especial zones, which enjoyed preferential conditions and the provision of public facilities, aimed mainly at "attracting foreign investors to establish companies especially focused on exporting their final goods to the rest of the world", thus stimulating economic growth (Xu, 1981). Another important purpose of SEZs was to foster technology transfer from the companies established in such areas (Leong, 2013).

The creation of the first four SEZs is in line with the export-oriented processing zones model, which was successful because of, among other factors, adequate logistical and customs infrastructure. These conditions were key to its development and helped boost China's participation in various global value chains (World Bank et al., 2017 p. 6). The success of these first SEZs led to the creation of thousands of other manufacturing centers and industrial clusters throughout the country, which also became important global production centers (Zhang, 2019).

According to UNCTAD (2019), there are five categories of SEZs: "(i) Economic and technological development zone; (ii) High-tech industrial development zone; (iii) Special customs zone; (iv) Border/cross-border economic cooperation zone; and (v) Other types". Based on this definition, China currently has 2,543 economic zones, accounting for more

than half of the SEZs worldwide. The provinces of Guangdong and Fujian (where the first four SEZs were established) accounted for 32.1% of Chinese exports in 2017, featuring Guangdong as the main exporting region of the country (National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2020), all of which is indicative of the key role played by SEZs in China as a tool to attract investment and encourage exports.

#### China in the World Trade Organization and the Going Out strategy

China's entry into the World Trade Organization (WTO) in December 2001 is considered one of the main milestones in its process of economic opening-up. The accession entailed making various concessions at the multilateral level and internal reforms to guarantee a higher level of liberalization. In China, it accelerated the implementation of reforms conducive to economic growth and helped consolidate the process of turning the country into the "world's factory" (Yuan, 2014). At the same time, greater economic openness contributed to its trading partners becoming more integrated with the Chinese economy, which had been isolated by significant tariff and non-tariff barriers.

According to Adhikari and Yang (2002), joining the WTO benefited not only China, but also its trading partners. Along these lines, Wakasugi and Zhang (2016) pointed out that China's accession to the WTO and the economic reforms arising thereafter had a positive effect on the productivity of exporting companies, both those with foreign and domestic capital.

In 2016, during a speech at the World Economic Forum Summit, President Xi conveyed China's vision for the world economy, which is to "remain committed to developing global free trade and investment, promote trade and investment liberalization and facilitation through opening-up and say no to protectionism" (Xi, 2017a). The importance of this vision is even greater than that of accession to the WTO in 2001, since China is currently one of the main players in the world economy. Indeed, it contrasts with other positions, particularly that of United States in recent years, as it shows an attitude oriented towards economic globalization.

#### Trade agreements

One of the main policies associated with the current path of trade liberalization is the negotiation of trade agreements with different countries. Currently, China has 16 trade agreements in force and more than 10 agreements under negotiation (MOFCOM, 2020). However, it should be noted that these trade agreements only cover 23.3% of Chinese exports (International Trade Center, 2020), which means that negotiations with larger and more significant trading partners are still pending, such as with the United States, Japan, India, among others.

At the regional level, China completed the negotiations of the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP)<sup>3</sup>, which is considered one of the two "building blocks" for the construction of the Free Trade Area of the Asia Pacific (FTAAP) along with the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP)<sup>4</sup>, also known as the TPP-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In November 2019, the 15 countries negotiating the RCEP reached an agreement: 10 members from ASEAN (Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam), Australia, China, Japan, New Zealand and Rep. of Korea. At the same time, India decided to withdraw from the negotiations. The RCEP was finally signed by the aforementioned 15 countries on November 13, 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Composed of 11 countries: Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Canada, Chile, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore and Vietnam. Note that 6 of these countries also take part in the RCEP (Australia,

Additionally, China is making efforts to upgrade its existing trade agreements, aiming to generate more comprehensive ones, featuring greater liberalization and deeper cooperation with its trading partners. Upgraded agreements were successfully negotiated and are already in force with the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), Chile, Singapore, and Pakistan. Meanwhile, upgrades are under negotiation with Peru, the Republic of Korea and New Zealand.

#### Going Out strategy

China's accession to the WTO concurs with the first years of one of the most ambitious initiatives of the Chinese government: Going Out strategy 1.0, introduced in 1999. On the on hand, it is aimed at increasing Chinese companies' investments overseas in order to expand the market for their products (Oficina General del Consejo de Estado – República Popular China, 2006). While, on the other hand, it sought to secure access and availability of natural resources necessary to continue and expand national industrial production. That helps explain the internationalization of companies such as China Petroleum Corporation (CNPC), China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (Sinopec) and Aluminum Corporation of China (Chinalco), among others (China Policy, 2017).

Nonetheless, this plan had numerous limitations due to certain weaknesses of the companies at that moment, as they still did not have the necessary experience to go global. Moreover, there were problems of competitiveness, technology and limited development of the distribution network at the international level (Oficina General del Consejo de Estado – República Popular China, 2006).

The Going Out strategy 1.0 should be considered as a first exploratory attempt of promoting investments overseas, which marks a change in China's investment paradigm. Between 1978 and the late 1990s, China favored the attraction of investments to its territory, then it went on to also invest overseas, a process which was expanded since the beginning of Xi's administration under the Going Out strategy 2.0 (introduced in 2013). This strategy has a more ambitious vision and differs from the first version, as the Chinese companies are more integrated into the world economy, having more experience to invest in other countries and compete in various markets.

According to China Policy (2017), the technological characteristics and expertise that Chinese companies have acquired, in addition to their financial capacity, enable them to harness investment opportunities across the globe, particularly in sectors like construction, manufacturing and energy in developing countries. Furthermore, the newly created Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB), an initiative promoted by China, will be another important driver of this strategy, as investments in infrastructure will contribute to exporting Chinese know-how and technology (Yeo, 2018).

Figure 10 illustrates the importance of China both as a destination and source of foreign investments. Interestingly, it shows that the Chinese economy reached a position of net investor in 2015, as the outflows of FDI surpassed the inflows for the first time in its history (US\$ 147.7 compared to US\$ 135.6, respectively). However, the change reversed in 2018, as inflows surpassed outflows. UNCTAD (2020b) projected that China received US\$ 140 billion of FDI in 2019, but there are no estimates for Chinese investment outflows.

It is necessary to continue observing the evolution of such investments in order to ascertain if Chinas will consolidate a position of net investor overseas. Certainly, the

Brunei Darussalam, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, and Vietnam). CPTPP is built upon the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), which also included the United States, country that withdrew from the agreement in 2017.

development of the Belt and Road Initiative will favor this trend, seeing as it entails financing and investments in infrastructure, as well as the establishment of Chinese companies in industrial parks in developing countries (see subsection 1.4).

#### 1.3. Chinese economy towards 2050: vision and goals

The Chinese government's ability to design systematic policies, national plans and longterm goals is a permanent institutional component of China. In that regard, it is important to explore three significant milestones: Made in China 2025, a plan adopted in 2015; the 13th Five-Year Plan (2016-2020), and the long-term vision presented in the last congresses of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP). These initiatives seek to contribute to China's rise as the world's leading economy.

#### Made in China 2025

Introduced by Prime Minister Li Keqiang in 2015, this plan is aimed at developing and strengthening ten selected sectors that will allow China to take the technological leap towards high value-added productions. These are "new information technology, numerical control tools, aerospace equipment, high-tech ships, railway equipment, energy saving, new materials, medical devices, agricultural machinery and power equipment" (State Council – Guo Fa, 2015).

This plan is the first step in a roughly thirty-year global program that intends to turn China into a manufacturing powerhouse. It will be developed in three phases: (i) by 2025, the gap with other countries should be reduced through greater innovation, productivity, and integration of ICTs in the industrialization process; (ii) by 2035, China will seek to strengthen competitiveness and become a leader in several innovation industries, and finally, (iii) by 2049, the country should lead innovation worldwide and surpass the main economic powers (State Council - Guo Fa, 2015).

Specifically, it is about ensuring that the production of key technologies and advanced equipment do not depend on the provision of inputs by other countries, as well as about improving the quality of Chinese exports, and increasing the efficiency of production processes and use of resources. Four keywords reveal the meaning of this initiative and constitute priorities of the Chinese government in relation to manufacturing, namely: innovation, quality, efficiency and financing.

First, innovation is seen as the main driver to improve productivity in the Chinese manufacturing sector, thereafter, boosting economic growth. It seeks to develop a chain of innovation including companies of all sizes, strengthen research in key technologies, improve education, increase patent registration and enhance the standards for intellectual property protection (State Council - Guo Fa, 2015).

Currently, the Innovation Index of the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO)<sup>5</sup> places China in the 14th position out of 129 countries, leaving the Chinese behind the majority of developed countries, including Switzerland, Sweden, the United States, Germany and Singapore. Therefore, China is faced with the challenge of reaching the forefront among innovative countries. This index suggests that the country should overcome deficiencies in terms of regulatory framework and in the development and trade of ICT-related services (Cornell University, INSEAD, & World Intellectual Property Organization, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This index considers seven pillars: (i) Institutions, (ii) Human capital and research; (iii) Infrastructure, (iv) Market sophistication; (v) Business sophistication; (vi) Knowledge and technology outputs; and (vii) Creative outputs.

Indeed, the Made in China 2025 plan focuses on these two weaknesses, since it contemplates a tax reform to promote the modern manufacturing industry. It also seeks to foster greater integration between information technology, Internet, industrialization and the development of the new generation of 5G-related ICT, among others (State Council - Guo Fa, 2015).

Second, concerning the objective of increasing the quality of Chinese manufacturing products and achieving worldwide recognition for their high-standards, companies must use better inputs in production lines in order to change the perception of consumers in relation to the quality of their products. The plan envisions the construction of "high-quality brands", especially in industries like automobiles, high value-added machinery, railway systems and technical equipment (State Council - Guo Fa, 2015).

Third, productive efficiency in high-technology sectors is key to increasing companies' competitiveness level. The plan includes measures to adjust the structure and productive capacity in some high-technology sectors, reducing the overcapacity of companies and seeking to increase collaborations between large, medium and small firms within the production chain (State Council - Guo Fa, 2015). Forth, regarding financing, the Export-Import Bank of China (Eximbank) and the National Development Bank of China would offer loans with low interest rates. In addition, medium and small companies could be eligible to receive subsidies (Institute for Security & Development Policy, 2018).

#### The 13th Five-Year Plan

A distinctive characteristic of Chinese plans is the ambition of the objectives set. With that in mind, it is important to analyze the five-year plans guiding China, as they can provide insights on how other countries can adjust their strategy of engagement with China in order to harness opportunities opened with such plans.

The 13th Five-Year Plan further develops the guidelines for structural changes that were initially adopted in the 12th Plan. That is, the shift from an export- and FDI-oriented economic model to a consumption-driven economy based on the rise of a broad middle-class with a growing purchasing power (World Economic Forum, 2018, p. 9).

This structural change does not entail neglecting other drivers that propelled the Chinese economy in past decades. On the contrary, the country seeks to modernize productive sectors in order to realize their full potential, as well as create conditions for companies to compete, develop rural areas and guide exporting companies to higher value-added and higher technological content activities in both goods and services (NDRC, 2016).

This is the Chinese strategy to continue to sustain a medium-high economic growth rate of around 6.5%. Furthermore, the plan is aimed at improving the standard of living of the population through increased consumption, urbanization and greater access to high-quality public services. At the same time, it is geared toward enhancing environmental protection, as well as modernizing the Chinese administration and institutions.

The 13th Five-Year Plan provides institutional support to the objectives outlined in the Made in China 2025 plan, since it also considers innovation, and the improvements in productivity arising thereafter, as key for China to become a manufacturing powerhouse. In fact, it intends to boost China's capacity to develop homegrown innovation. To promote this new driver of growth, the Chinese economy needs to provide the necessary conditions for companies and individuals to develop their potential, including reforming intellectual property laws (WIPO, 2008).

#### Towards the 14th Five-Year Plan

The discussion on the 14th Five-Year Plan (2021-2025) has started gaining greater relevance and some analysts consider that it will be "the main legacy of the administration of President Xi Jinping", consolidating China's vision of becoming the main world power (Delgado & Martínez, 2017, p. 12). From another perspective, Neuweg and Stern (2019) have argued that the 14th Plan will incorporate new dimensions—in relation to the past 40 years—to China's vision for future development. In particular, the inclusion of the Sustainable Development Goals - SDGs (Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas, 2015), which focuses mainly on social well-being and environmental protection.

Along these lines, for Baxter and Zhe (2019), this new plan will include the steps to carry out an energy transition towards lower carbon emissions. For his part, Prime Minister Li Keqiang stated that the goals should adhere to the people-centered principle and put them as the main beneficiary of the various reforms. Moreover, according to Prime Minister Li, China will continue to work on strengthening the process of industrial upgrade, developing the private sector, promoting investment in infrastructure, and improving competitiveness through innovation, while maintaining an open economy (Office of the State Council - the People's Republic of China, 2019).

The 2021-2025 period of the 14th Five-Year Plan is crucial, as it concurs with the target year of Made in China 2025 plan and, therefore, it should lay the foundations to continue with the necessary reforms to achieve the goals set. Thus, the five-year plans are an essential component of a mechanism aimed at facilitating the achievement of China's goals.

#### Towards 2050: the two centenary goals

The 19th CCP Congress, held in October 2017, provided the Chinese president with the opportunity to present to the world the "Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for a New Era". In this framework, it is considered that "the principal contradiction facing Chinese society has evolved. What [China] now faces is the contradiction between unbalanced and inadequate development and the people's evergrowing needs for a better life" (Xi, 2017b). That is why various plans seek to distribute more efficiently the economic bonanza from recent decades, reducing the imbalance between regions, urban and rural areas, and industrial sectors. In addition, according to Han (2018), the need to promote further economic development calls for changing the model from "made in China" to "designed and/or created in China".

In regards to goals, the CCP congresses have given rise to the so-called "two centenary goals" (Xi, 2017b), whose origins go back at least to the 15th Congress in 1997 (Jiang, 2002). The first of these centenary goals is to "finish building a moderately prosperous society in all respects" by 2021, year that marks the 100th anniversary of the CCP (Xi, 2017b). The second one is to make China "a fully developed and advanced nation by 2049", when it is celebrated the 100th anniversary of the foundation of the People's Republic of China (Zhang, 2017).

At the 19th Congress, President Xi proposed two phases of fifteen years to meet the second goal. In the first phase, from 2020 to 2035, China should see that "socialist modernization is basically realized". In the second phase, from 2035 to 2050, China should develop into a "great modern socialist country that is prosperous, strong, democratic, culturally advanced, harmonious, and beautiful". By then, China will become the leading global power and the population will enjoy better living conditions (Xi, 2017b).

Concerning the economy, structural reforms on the supply side will be deepened. That is to say, reforms related to Made in China 2025 and the 13th Five-Year Plan, which includes improving manufacturing productivity, fomenting manufacturing sectors with higher technological content, and exploiting the full potential modern technology (e.g. Internet, big data, artificial intelligence, among others) In addition, China intends to take part only in middle to high segments of global value chains, which entails developing a more qualified local workforce (Xi, 2017b).

Furthermore, it stresses the importance of modernizing and improving the socialist market economy in China. To this end, property rights and the process of turning Chinese enterprises into world-class firms will play an important role. Along with this, high-quality public health and education should be provided to the Chinese people, thereafter closing a gap with developed countries. Finally, the Belt and Road Initiative is highlighted as a key driving force for the Chinese economy to become fully open (Xi, 2017b).

#### 1.4. The Belt and Road Initiative: opportunities for Peru?<sup>6</sup>

In 2013, President Xi Jinping proposed for the first time the construction of the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road (Belt and Road Initiative, for short), which is based on the historical routes used for trade between China, Central Asia, Europe and Africa. In March 2015, the National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and Ministry of Commerce (NDRC, MFA, & MOFCOM, 2015) issued the policy paper "Vision and Actions on Jointly Building Silk Road Economic Belt and 21st-Century Maritime Silk Road".

Following this, the 13th Five-Year Plan (March 2016) noted that, among other aspects, the Initiative would improve infrastructure and multimodal transportation networks in order to boost connectivity between sub-regions within Asia and between Asia, Europe and Asia would Africa. The development of strategic maritime hubs and industrial clusters around major ports would improve the operation of maritime routes (NDRC, 2016).

For its part, the 19th CCP Congress indicated that the Initiative will contribute to promoting balanced development in China and will foment openness as a result of the land and sea connections developed between east and west. Connectivity, conceived as a new platform for international cooperation, would contribute to creating new drivers for development (Niu, 2017).

#### Economic corridors and routes

This Initiative is not only about expanding trade, as the original historical routes, it is "a development program meant to boost trade and investment around two axes: the Silk Road Economic Belt, a series of overland corridors linking China with Europe via Central Asia and the Middle East, and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road, a cluster of sea routes connecting coastal China to the Mediterranean via the Pacific and Indian Oceans, and along part of the African coastline" (Erthal & Gonzáles, 2018, p. 7).

To illustrate, Map 1 shows the main maritime and land routes of the Belt and Road Initiative. Meanwhile, Map 2 displays the economic corridors that would connect China with countries in its vicinity, namely: New Eurasian Land Bridge, China-Mongolia-Russia, China-Central Asia-West Asia, and China-Indochina. Additionally, the China-Pakistan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This subsection builds upon previous publications from the author of this working paper (i.e. Santa Gadea, 2018a, 2018b, 2018c, 2018d, 2019a, 2019b, 2019c).

and China-Bangladesh-India-Myanmar economic corridors are also considered "closely related to the Belt and Road Initiative" (NDRC, MFA & MOFCOM, 2015).

This blueprint has evolved over time, as evidenced by the Joint Communiqué of the Leaders' Roundtable of the 2nd Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation held in Beijing on April 25-27, 2019. The communiqué lists 35 initiatives in the annex "Economic corridors and other projects catalyzed and supported by connectivity", which shows the significant expansion of the Belt and Road Initiative over the years (see Table 4).

It is envisioned that the economic corridors will be composed of railways, highways, infrastructure for maritime and air transportation, oil and gas pipelines, and aerospace integrated information network. These would comprise "the main targets of infrastructure connectivity" (Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative, 2017, p. 10). However, infrastructure is not the only building block of the economic corridors, other important components include industrial and technological parks, free trade zones, among others.

#### Internal and external rationale

Domestically, by promoting greater integration of China's interior provinces with neighboring economies, the Initiative would contribute to reducing the economic development gap with coastal provinces (Cai, 2017). At the same time, it would also boost internal trade by reducing the above-average transportation costs within the country (Amighini, 2017).

Internationally, the access to new markets would be highly beneficial to China, not only due to the opportunity to increase trade, but also because it would help the country deal with productive overcapacity in transportation, infrastructure, steel, cement, among others (Amighini, 2017). What is more, such a vast program of economic integration could place China in a position of regional leadership. It is said that "its aim is to create a regional production chain, within which China would be a center of advanced manufacturing and innovation, and the standard setter". (Cai, 2017, p. 5). From another perspective, the Initiative would be China's grand strategy to strengthen ties with neighboring countries and develop leadership capabilities at a global level (Niu, 2017).

#### A global initiative

The Belt and Road Initiative has progressively become a global initiative. Since it was introduced in 2013, the number of countries that have signed cooperation agreements with Beijing in this framework has grown enormously, reaching 144 as of October 20, 2020 (Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative, 2020). Interestingly, between 2018 and 2019, the Initiative jumped from 80 agreements to the current number.

Although originally the vast majority of countries in the Belt and Road Initiative were from Asia and Europe, the recent great expansion has been driven by the establishment of agreements with African countries in the framework of the Summit of the Forum on China-Africa Cooperation held in Beijing in September 2018. Before this summit, only 9 African countries were part of the Initiative, currently there are 44, which surpasses the 39 Asian countries. However, if Asia and Oceania are combined, they reach 50 agreements signed, therefore surpassing Africa (see Table 5).

As for Latin American and the Caribbean countries (LAC), Panama was the first to sign a cooperation agreement on the Initiative in November 2017. In January 2018, the Second Ministerial Meeting of the China-Community of Latin American and Caribbean States (Comunidad de Estados Latinoamericanos y Caribeños – CELAC) Forum took place in Chile, where a special declaration was issued on the Initiative (CELAC-China Forum, 2018). Thereafter, throughout 2018, 15 LAC countries signed memorandums of understanding with China on the Belt and Road Initiative. As of October 20, 2020, 19 LAC countries have signed agreements on the Initiative (see Map 3).

On April 25, 2019, Peru and China signed the "Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation in the Framework of the Initiative of the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road" during the Second Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation (Beijing, April 25-27, 2019). On this occasion, Peru was represented by its Minister of Foreign Trade and Tourism, Edgar Vásquez (MINCETUR, 2019a and 2019b). Therefore, Peru should deepen the analysis on this issue in order to define a strategy for its implementation.

#### Pillars of the economic corridors

As already mentioned, connectivity is considered a new platform for international cooperation and the routes proposed—on land and sea—make up economic corridors under construction to improve the connection between China and the rest of Asia and Europe, mainly. It is reasonable to assume that the concept of economic corridors would also be the basis of the connection to be established with regions newly incorporated into the Belt and Road Initiative. Hence, economic corridors are the key concept to understand the Initiative, which concerns not only infrastructure (transportation, energy and communications), but also production, including special economic zones and other instruments to facilitate the integration into global value chains.

It is often thought that the Belt and Road Initiative is only about in infrastructure. Nonetheless, in fact, it is a comprehensive economic integration program composed of five pillars: (i) policy coordination, which consists of creating coordination mechanisms on policies and strategies for economic development; (ii) facilitate connectivity through the construction of infrastructure; (iii) unimpeded trade, meaning trade facilitation and the establishment of free trade zones; (iv) financial integration, including promoting greater use of the Renminbi and encouraging greater participation and presence of banks and funds created to finance projects<sup>7</sup>; and (v) promote people-to-people bonds, through cultural and academic exchanges, media cooperation, tourism, among others (NDRC, MFA, & MOFCOM, 2015).

Therefore, the design of an efficient national strategy to harness the opportunities offered by the Belt and Road must start from a correct understanding of what the Initiative really is.

#### Towards a transpacific economic corridor: the potential role of Peru

The Peruvian engagement with the Belt and Road Initiative does not have to be related to the country's entire infrastructure gap. It should be kept in mind that this Initiative is about connectivity with China. Therefore, efforts for its implementation should focus on projects that would contribute to transpacific relations, including logistics and productive projects. In which case, the extension of the Belt and Road Initiative to Latin America means, in fact, the extension of the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road to the Pacific. Against this backdrop, it is necessary to identify the potential role that Peru can play in transpacific connectivity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Including the AIIB, Silk Road Fund, Chinese policy banks (Eximbank and China Development Bank), as well as Chinese commercial banks.

Peru is located in the center of the South American Pacific coast, which puts the country in a position to become a hub for trade between the two sides of the Pacific basin, in particular, between China and South America (see Map 4). Notwithstanding, it should be noted that other countries in the region share the same ambition. Ultimately, competitiveness will determine which country can play this role of hub on the South American side of the Pacific.

The analysis and design of this possible transpacific economic corridor in the framework of the Belt and Road should contemplate, among other aspects, logistic costs, transit time, and ships frequency. To determine the best alternative, traditional and proposed maritime routes should be comparatively analyzed. Peru needs to update its strategy on this matter. The country should also continue to promote air connectivity.

In addition, digital connectivity emerges as another area with great potential. The Belt and Road Initiative contemplates the construction of cross-border and transcontinental submarine optical cable projects that would form the "Information Silk Road". Latin America has no direct connection with Asia for data transmission (see Map 5). Is a direct submarine cable between South America and China feasible? Where could the digital hub be located on the South American side of the Pacific coast?

A "transoceanic fiber optic cable" is listed among the 35 economic corridors and projects presented in a annex of the Communiqué of the Leaders' Roundtable of the 2nd Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation (see Table 4), but it is not clear if that project refers to the Asia-Latin America connection. In any case, there is evidence of Chile's interest in exploring whether such a connection could be established with China (China Academy of Information and Communications Technology, 2018, p. 4; Bórquez, 2019). However, at the same time, the Chileans also contemplated the possibility of establishing this link with Asia through Oceania, in a project that included Japan.

A call for bids invited companies to submit proposals for a feasibility study, which CAF-Development Bank of Latin America committed to support with US\$ 3 million (Subsecretaría de Telecomunicación del Ministerio de Transportes y Telecomunicaciones de Chile - SUBTEL-MTT, 2019a; CAF, 2019). It received eight proposals, including one from the Chinese enterprise Huaxing Consulting Co. Ltd. (SUBTEL-MTT, 2019c). Ultimately, the winner was a consortium formed by Telecommunications Management Group Inc. and WFN Strategies LLC (SUBTEL-MTT, 2019b).

According to the Chilean Government, the feasibility study found that the most profitable route would be to connect the country to New Zealand and Australia (i.e. continental Chile-Auckland-Sydney). From Oceania, the submarine cable could be linked to the existing networks with Asia (SUBTEL-MTT, 2020). In consequence, the possibilities of Peru also being considered for such a connection are low, unless the country asserts its interest and also carries out studies on the matter.

#### Basis and potential

In sum, the extension of the Belt and Road Initiative to Latin America calls for working on establishing one (or several) transpacific economic corridors. Peru can be the anchor of this corridor, not only because of its favorable geographical location, but also because of the substantial bilateral relations the country has with China.

The two countries have a Comprehensive Strategic Association, a free trade agreement (FTA) and a memorandum of understanding on the Belt and Road Initiative. Moreover, Peru is a prospective member of the AIIB (AIIB, 2017). In terms of investments, the

Peruvian economy is the second destination of Chinese FDI in Latin America, after Brazil (Dussel, 2020), especially because of the mining sector, but not exclusively, as investments in infrastructure projects have been growing (Tao, 2019). According to Liang Yu, Ambassador of the People's Republic of China to Peru, in 2019, the total stock of Chinese FDI in Peru reached US\$ 30 billion (Toscano, 2019).

In regards to trade, Peru is China's third most important trading partner in South America, after Brazil and Chile (Table 6), and it holds the largest community of Chinese diaspora in Latin America (Berríos, 2003). Therefore, Peru-China relations already present significant prior progress in the five pillars of the Belt and Road Initiative. To move forward with this new framework, it is necessary to add the issue of connectivity into the agenda.

The joint strategic planning for Peru-China relations should regularly look into how to implement the Peruvian participation in the Belt and Road Initiative and, by so doing, promote its expansion to South America. The challenge facing the Peruvian economy is how to sustain growth by increasing competitiveness and productivity. Infrastructure plays an important role to that end. The Peru-China agenda could be enriched with the inclusion of these matters, but it should be framed within a clear strategy to be designed based on the feasibility and benefits that a transpacific corridor could bring.

#### Challenges ahead

The Belt and Road Initiative is best understood in the context of the Chinese economic restructuring. This process entails moving industries to other countries. Thus, it is based on investments in infrastructure for connectivity and, at the same time, production delocalization. In this sense, the Initiative promotes the globalization of value chains, production networks in which Peru aspires to take part. The challenge is how to introduce these concepts in the transpacific relations. By doing so, Peru could perhaps have the opportunity to renew the traditional pattern of its economic relations with China, currently concentrated in raw materials exports and investments in extractive industries.

Finally, for Peru and Latin American countries in general, it is important to identify the lessons to be learned from the implementation of the Belt and Road Initiative in other regions. Specifically, examine the construction of economic corridors between China and countries in its vicinity. China's connection with Southeast Asian countries would be a very interesting case study. It is important to note that there are key differences in regards to the level debt held by nations involved in the Initiative. Furthermore, where possible, greenfield investments in infrastructure should not be agreed directly between governments but rather follow market principles. In other words, companies interested in a certain project have to compete in call for bids open to firms from the whole world.

In sum, there are three major tasks ahead. First, design the transpacific economic corridor in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative and identify the role for Peru in that context. Second, assess the feasibility of this vision. Third, identify the instruments and measures to achieve it. This effort requires a long-term perspective and the collaboration between government, private sector and academia would be very important.

#### 1.5. Tension between the United States and China for world leadership

#### Trade war

The United States holds a deficit in foreign trade with the world, as the value of its imports exceeds that of its exports. In 2018, said trade deficit reached US\$ 946.4 billion. Trade with China accounted for US\$ 443.1 billion or 46.8% of this deficit (see Figure 11). This

imbalance with China has been on a steady rising trend, given that it amounted to US\$ 83.1 billion or 20.2% of the total US trade deficit in 2001.

As noted previously, China became the "world's factory", which resulted in a sharp increase of its manufacturing exports (McBride & Chatzky, 2019). North American companies contributed to this process by transferring their labor-intensive and low value-added industries to China, while the United States continued to develop high-technology industries (Xu, 2012).

This shift contributed to China's integration into manufacturing global value chains, playing the role of exporting final goods to European countries and to the United States, and intermediate goods (medium-technology content) to nearby Asia-Pacific countries, which have been progressively taking China's place in global value chains (World Bank et al., 2017).

Due to the importance of trade in intermediate goods (inputs imported to make final goods), it has been pointed out that the US trade deficit with China would reduce significantly "if bilateral trade imbalances were measured according to the value of trade that occurred domestically in each country" (Congressional Research Service, 2018: p. 12). This happens because a significant part of Chinese exports is composed of high value-added inputs imported from the United States.

The United States has implemented policies aimed at reducing the high and "unsustainable" level of trade deficit with China (Lawrence, 2018), limiting the supposed interference and manipulation of the Chinese Government on the exchange rate (United States Department of the Treasury, 2019), and combating subsidies and other benefits offered to Chinese state owned companies—as they distort the market and favor their exports (Bown, 2019). The increase in tariffs for Chinese imports and the imposition of sanctions on companies from that country led to the wave of tariff retaliations between 2018 and 2019.

According to the Office of the State Council - the People's Republic of China (2018), the trade policy implemented by the United States not only had a negative effect on the Chinese side, but also on the North American economy. The increase in tariffs affects manufacturing sectors that depend heavily on Chinese inputs, which in turn negatively impacts employment in the US and increases prices of final goods exported from China to meet American consumers' demand. The ultimate goal of raising tariffs—which disrupts global value chains—would be to repatriate American companies and have them develop their production activities in the United States, such as in the automobile, electronics and aviation sectors (2018, p. 65).

After 18 months of conflict in the form of tariff raises and retaliations (between June 2018 and November 2019) and following truce attempts and various meetings, in January 2020, China and the United States signed the so-called "first phase" of their trade agreement, thus easing tensions between the two. The focus was on lowering tariffs and a commitment from China to buying US\$ 200 worth of North American products to lower the bilateral trade deficit.

In addition, it included chapters on intellectual property (focused on protecting trade secrets, confidential business information, pharmaceutical products patents, fighting piracy, among other issues) and on technology transfer (including provisions to ensure that technology or know-how transfer is not used as a condition to access the market, eliminate licensing, increased transparency between companies and incentives for greater scientific and technological cooperation). These chapters are considered as

structural issues to achieve a more "balanced" commercial relations between the two countries (USTR, 2019).

On the Chinese side, according to Hofman (2020), despite the fact that the agreement is mainly based on the adoption of commitments by China regarding structural reforms, the purpose of signing it is to accelerate internal reforms on intellectual property, technology transfer and financial sector in order to improve the business environment and attract more investments in cutting-edge technologies. It would offer more time for the reforms to help reduce the Chinese dependence on the United States in hightechnology areas, which would strengthen China's capacity to compete with the US in these sectors in the future.

Therefore, the analysis of the US-China trade war should not be limited to tariffs or other bilateral trade issues, it should also explore underlying causes, especially the race for global technological leadership in the long-term (Schneider-Petsinger, 2019).

#### Competition for technological leadership

According to Yu (2019), China's aspiration to be a world power—as seen in its various national plans and its international projection—have led the country to a technological race with the United States. At stake, it would be the capacity to influence the global technological standards and achieve global economic supremacy. In particular, this competition would take place in two fronts: the production of high-technology goods and 5G technology.

As already mentioned, China's vision for structural productive change (under initiatives such as the Made in China 2025) consists in transforming the Chinese economy into an innovation power-house and a producer of high value-added high-technology goods. The United States specializes precisely in the production of goods in the sectors targeted by the Chinese plan. This would have caused the Trump Administration to consider that China's new strategies represent an "economic aggression" (White House Office of Trade and Manufacturing Policy, 2018).

In this spirit, an investigation under Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974,<sup>8</sup> Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR), argued that China uses administrative requirements and other mechanisms to force the transfer of technologies and intellectual property from North American to Chinese companies. Other mechanisms include regulations that limit US companies' ability to negotiate with their Chinese counterparts and undermine the control of their technology in China. The Chinese Government is also said to offer financing and subsidies for their enterprises to acquire American companies and/or to engage in large-scale technology transfers in industries important to China. Finally, Chinese companies would get government support to access trade secrets and confidential business information, thereupon offering an unfair competitive advantage (USTR, 2018, pp. 5-6).

These would be the root causes of the trade war: the Chinese access to advanced technologies not produced in the country, which in turn contributes to fomenting new skills associated with technological innovation that helps reduce the existing gaps with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 301 of the Trade Act 1974 can be activated if it is determined that a foreign country applies discriminatory measures, policies or practices against trade with United States. See https://legcounsel.house.gov/Comps/93-618.pdf

respect to international standards (Jue, 2019). The number of patents in high-technology sectors granted in China and the United States is indicative of this competition<sup>9</sup>.

Since 2010, the number of patents granted in both countries have been on the rise, but at a faster pace in China, which helps reduce the gap between the two. In China, the number of patents in high-technology sectors went from 52,221 to 148,281 between 2010 and 2018, while it increased from 114,243 to 156,009 in the same period in the United States. If the trend continues, China would soon overtake the United States (see Figure 12).

The sector of semiconductors (inputs used in a wide range of electronic devices) is illustrative of this competition in high-technology products. According to Wu, Hoenig and Dormido (2019), the United States dominates the production and granting of patents in this sector and, moreover, it is the home country of Intel, the leading producer of semiconductors in the world.

5G technology is another battlefront for the US-China competition. This fifth generation of broadband mobile network will enable the development of a wide range of applications by providing faster and higher capacity Internet connection. Various sectors will be able to harness its benefits, including health care, education, energy, transportation, ecommerce, and logistics, among other activities (Cellular Telecommunications Industry Association-CTIA, 2020). Given the relevance of this new technology, both countries support their national companies in the competition to become 5G service providers in markets around the world. This is of great importance, as "market access" is a pathway to set technological standards worldwide (Yu, 2019).

According to Deloitte (2018), although the United States has made significant progress in 5G technology, it would not be comparable to what China has achieved in recent years thanks to its investments in infrastructure to offer 5G connection to the Chinese population. However, when it comes to Internet access, China still lags behind the United States, although the gap has been narrowing significantly over the years. In 2000, only 1.8% of the Chinese population had access to the Internet, while in the United States it was over 40%. In 2017, the rate of Internet access reached 54% in China, compared to almost 90% for the United States (see Figure 13). As indicated by GSMA Intelligence (2019), the adoption of new connectivity technologies such as 5G will considerably boost Internet access for the Chinese population, as the 4G network will be progressively replaced for this new technology in the coming years (see Figure 14).

The United States decided to include the Chinese firms ZTE and Huawei in the "entity list" which identifies foreign parties with which American companies are forbidden from doing business without an special permission from the American Government<sup>10</sup>. In the case of ZTE, the sanction was lifted in July 2018, but Huawei remains in the list<sup>11</sup>. To justify the decision, it has been argued that Huawei carries out activities that threaten the national security and foreign policy interests of the United States (Federal Register, 2019). It should be noted that Huawei is currently the leading company in 5G technology, responsible for 29% of the global mobile infrastructure market. Following the Chinese, Ericsson (Sweden) and Nokia (Finland) hold 25% and 21% of the market respectively,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> WIPO (2020) considers the following as high-technology sectors: electrical machinery, apparatus, energy; audio-visual technology; telecommunications; digital communication; basic communication processes; computer technology; IT methods for management; semiconductors; and optics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> April 16, 2018, in the case of ZTE, and May 16, 2019 for Huawei (Wong & Chipman, 2020). Consulted on March 21, 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Consulted on May 18, 2020, source Bureau of Industry and Security (2020).

which means that US companies are not among the top three world leaders in 5G technology (Wu, Hoenig, & Dormido, 2019).

In short, the competition to be the world's leading technological power is ongoing. China's long-term challenge is to reduce its dependence on foreign technologies by fostering homegrown world leading companies in cutting-edge technologies (Yu, 2019).

#### Race for global leadership and erosion of multilateralism

This segment presents a synthesis of the main points raised by Ambassador Allan Wagner Tizón in his commentary on this research at the conference "Bicentennial Project of Peru: Contributions for its Development" organized by CIUP (Wagner, 2020). Centered on the points summarized below, his thoughts offer insights into the current state of affairs on the international stage.

- The tension between China and the United States is a struggle for world leadership that goes beyond the economic arena.
- This conflict was already underway when the coronavirus pandemic emerged and further exacerbated the tension.
- The consequences for the world order are worrisome due to the erosion of multilateralism.
- In the current international setting, it is necessary to remain committed to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, defend multilateralism and harness the opportunities offered by the Fourth Industrial Revolution.
- In this context, China can be a valuable partner for Peru.

The following paragraphs present the aforementioned commentary with some editing:

"President Donald Trump changed the international agenda when he declared *America First*, which in practice meant *America Alone*, despite having said otherwise. His administration set forth a very accelerated process of erosion of multilateralism by abandoning the TPP, suspending transatlantic negotiations with the European Union and beginning to erode APEC. These quite negative developments combined with the declaration adopted by the CCP which, as already mentioned, proposed to make China a world power by 2049, year that marks the centenary of the foundation of the People's Republic of China. In this context, a commercial conflict between the United States and China has erupted, which is not about soybeans or wheat, but a competition for technological leadership. In fact, what is at stake is not only economic leadership, but who will be the leading world power, which goes beyond the economic arena".

This conflict was already underway when the coronavirus pandemic emerged and further exacerbated the tension between the two countries. The United States accuses China of having created the virus in a laboratory in Wuhan and of having delayed the communication of what was happening to the World Health Organization (WHO). According to the United States, that meant the rest of the world could not take action in time. The position of the US Government is interpreted in various ways. For some experts, President Trump is trying to hide his own ineptitude in the handling of the pandemic in his country. In any case, that will be investigated in due course. The fact of the matter is that this situation is leading to a possible new Cold War, this time between China and the United States".

"International relations analysts have voiced their concerns about it and, indeed, this is a worrisome issue. Some opinions can be mentioned to illustrate it. Internationalist Richard Haass (2020) thinks that the post-pandemic international setting will be more similar to the post-World War I, rather than the post-World War II. That is to say, a scenario in which international cooperation did not work and was the prelude to World War II. Such a prospect is quite disturbing".

"At the same time, the historian and philosopher Yuval Noah Harari (2020) states that we are faced with two options. On the one hand, totalitarian surveillance, referring to the way in which China and Asian countries in general have managed their population in the present crisis. On the other hand, citizen empowerment, in which case, it is proposed that technology can also be used by citizens to control the government and not only the other way around. Another issue in debate, according to Harari, concerns nationalist isolation versus global solidarity. This is very important because, in effect, there will be a tendency to isolationism, meaning countries trying to deal with global problems by themselves. That can cause further deterioration of the multilateral system, which is highly detrimental to everyone's best interest".

"For his part, Henry Kissinger (2020) points out that the pandemic will alter the world order forever. He also notes that it is absolutely essential to address the needs of the moment and have a vision and a global cooperation program. Kissinger concludes by pointing out a categorical and important aspect: 'the challenge for leaders is to manage the crisis while building the future; failure could set the world on fire. These are the challenges to face in terms of international relations and the role of China and the United States is very important in this context, since the position of world leader is being disputed".

"Furthermore, it is important to examine plans set on the international stage. In 2015, the United Nations General Assembly approved the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development featuring 19 goals. The commitments assumed by the international community include, for example, the pledge to end poverty in all its forms; eradicate hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition; ensure healthy lives and promote the well-being for all at all ages; ensure availability of water and its sustainable management, as well as sanitation for all; take urgent action to combat climate change; among others. These goals, which were considered important in 2015 (when the 2030 Agenda was approved) are absolutely indispensable nowadays, as this pandemic has shown how we still lag behind in these social issues and how countries have been unable to me meet people's basic needs".

"Faced with these scenarios, what can Peru do? First of all, support multilateralism, as it always has done. Peru is a founding member of the United Nations and, currently, it is important to strengthen this forum. It is curious, to say the least, that the Security Council has not held any meetings since the pandemic broke out, to reconcile an issue that affects international peace and security, based on health. Another arena is the WTO, which is in a deadlock because of the United States, having serious consequences for international trade. In addition, it is necessary to strengthen APEC and transform it into what it should be, that is, a great free trade zone".

"Moreover, we should strengthen regional integration by fomenting production chains at the regional level, which in turn can be integrated with new global production chains that will emerge from the New Economy that is being strongly promoted by China. To do so, it will be necessary to promote science and technology. Peru makes limited investments in this area, but it is essential to prepare for the Fourth Industrial Revolution that is already underway, in addition to artificial intelligence".

"These are the challenges to be faced globally and how to respond to them. This is a sensitive matter and the prospects are alarming. We must work on it very seriously. In this context, China can undoubtedly be a valuable partner for Peru" (Wagner, 2020).

#### Section 2. Challenges for the Peruvian insertion in the Pacific basin

The Asia-Pacific region is considered one of the most important in terms of economic experiences and dynamism, contributing significantly to world economic growth. Various experts, such as Wang (2019), consider the 21st century as the "Pacific Century", as countries like China are expected to reach the levels of economic development necessary to become advanced economies.

This section focuses the analysis on a group that has been referred to here as Asia-16, which includes the 16 economies from Asia and Oceania that are members of the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC). Namely: Australia; Brunei Darussalam; Chinese Taipei; Hong Kong, China; Indonesia; Japan; Malaysia; New Zealand; Papua New Guinea; People's Republic of China; Philippines; Republic of Korea; Russia; Singapore; Thailand; and Vietnam (see Map 6). This section employs the names of the economies as they appear in the APEC forum. Hence, hereinafter, the full name of the People's Republic of China is used in the case of comparisons with Asia-16 economies.

This analytical approach is important because it allows to compare Peru with the economies of the "other side of the Pacific" that are Peru's main economic partners in this basin and are benchmarks for competitiveness and productivity (see subsection 2.3). This group will also be referred to interchangeably as Asia-Pacific.

#### 2.1. The Asian economies of the Pacific basin: relative importance and dynamism

#### Relative importance in the world economy

First and foremost, the relative importance of Asia-16 in the world economy can be measured by observing its share of the global GDP (at current prices) vis-à-vis other regions. Figure 15 shows that, after the significant growth sustained since 1980, the share of Asia-16 in the world GDP reached the first place in 2010. It represented 28.1% of the total, surpassing North America (the United States and Canada), and the Euro Zone.

The trend has continued to gain force over the past years. In 2019, Asia-16 already accounted for 32.5% of the world GDP. The People's Republic of China alone was responsible for half of the total GDP in Asia-16, so the importance achieved by this group in the world economy has much to do with the trajectory of the Chinese economy. As for LAC, in the past 40 years, its share of the world GDP has decreased (7.6% in 1980, compared to 6% in 2019).

Figure 16 illustrates the economic growth rates of different regions with respect to the world average. It can be observed that Asia-Pacific is the most dynamic region, surpassing the growth rates recorded for the Euro Zone, North America and LAC. In effect, Asia-16 grows above the world average, which supports the notion that the region is a driver of dynamism that can reach the world economy at large.

#### Importance in world exports

International trade is a driver that has contributed to the greater sustained economic growth in the Asia-Pacific region. According to Brooks (2018), within the framework of an export-oriented growth model, this region became the center of low-cost production and logistics for international trade in the past decades.

Figure 17 shows this development using data on the share of Asia-Pacific exports in the world total. In 2001, this region accounted for 27.6% of all exports, ranking second in the world. Back then, the Euro Zone was the leading exporting region with 31% of the total. By 2005, this order had already been reversed and the North American share of world exports had declined.

Over the years, Asia-16 has been consolidating the position of leader in world exports, reaching 35.8% of the total in 2018. The People's Republic of China alone accounted for 12.9% of all exports worldwide, which corresponds to 36.2% of the total exported by Asia-16 in the same year (see Table 7). In contrast, LAC's share of world exports remained stagnant at around 5.6% over the period analyzed (2001-2018). Complementing this overview, Table 7 also shows that Asia-16 exports to the world increased four-fold between 2001 and 2018, reaching US\$ 6,981.5 million in the latter year. The economies with the highest dynamism in the period were Vietnam (value exported increased by 16.2 times) and the People's Republic of China (value exported increased by 9.4 times).

A significant part of the Asia-16 trade takes place within the region. In fact, in recent years, the proportion of intra-regional trade represented more than 50% of its total exports (see Table 8). Intra-regional trade is correlated to the productive integration in the context of global (and/or regional) value chains. Furthermore, the high volume of intra-regional trade contributes to strengthening the region in face of uncertainties of world trade and global economic growth (ADB, 2017).

According to the WTO, ESCAP & OECD (2011), Asia-Pacific economies have been taking increasingly more measures to support intra-regional trade. Their purpose is to strengthen the regional productive capacity by improving human capital, increasing liquidity of companies and aligning regional standards.

#### The role of manufacturing and services exports

Its manufacturing exports put in evidence the capacity of the Asia-Pacific region to produce and export goods with high value-added. In 2001, Asia-16 accounted for 30.9% of total manufacturing exports worldwide, being surpassed by the Euro Zone. However, in 2018, the situation had more than reversed. Asia-16 reached 41.6% of world manufacturing exports, compared to 29.7% of the Euro Zone and 10.6% of North America. In the case of LAC, not only is its share marginal for this type of exports, but it is also decreasing. In 2018, it represented 1.3% of world manufacturing exports, which is slightly less than the percentage observed in 2001 (see Figure 18).

The case is different for service exports, as the Asia-Pacific region does not fare well in the comparison. In 2005, Asia-16 accounted for 18.1% of service exports globally. Meanwhile, the Euro Zone led the sector with almost double that, representing 34.2% of the world total. More than ten years later, the Euro Zone is still responsible for a third of the world service exports, whereas Asia-16 reached more than 20% of that total. For their part, North America fluctuated around 16% and LAC held a marginal share of around 3% throughout the period analyzed (see Figure 19).

According to the Pacific Economic Cooperation Council – PECC (2011), the development of the services sector is crucial for economic growth and increased competitiveness. Moreover, it is important to note that the services sector is the main source of job creation in the Asia-Pacific region and it supports global/regional value chains in an interconnected world economy. According to ESCAP (2020), trade in services in Asia-Pacific is essentially dominated by a few economies, such as the

People's Republic of China, Japan, Singapore, Republic of Korea and Hong Kong, China.

#### Trends in direct investment

Finally, another important indicator of the Asia-16 dynamism is the rise of investments. Figure 20 presents the evolution of stocks of inward and outward foreign direct investments (IFDI and OFDI respectively) in this region between 2010 and 2018. It shows that the stock of OFDI surpassed that of IFDI in 2014, a trend which has been gaining force thereafter. In 2018, the OFDI stock reached US\$ 8,450.3 billion, which represented almost twice as much as the figures recorded for this concept in 2010. The People's Republic of China accounted for 23% of the stock of OFDI from Asia-16 in the world.

Additionally, according to UNCTAD (2019), the flows of intra-regional investments have increased. To illustrate, there has been a rise in investments in mainland China coming from Hong Kong, China<sup>12</sup>, the Republic of Korea and Singapore. At the same time, Southeast Asia is also attracting more investments, mainly Singapore, Indonesia, Vietnam and Thailand, such inflows have been invested in the financial, retail and digital economy sectors (infrastructure and services, e.g. information centers and electronic commerce businesses).

# 2.2. Panorama of the Peruvian trade with Asia-Pacific: concentration vs diversification

#### Evolution of exports

Peruvian exports to Asia-16 have shown a rising trend over the past twenty years. In 2000, Peru exported US\$ 1,263 million to that region. By 2019, such exports had increased 15-fold, reaching US\$ 19,199 million (see Figure 21). As a result, the Asia-Pacific region has consolidated itself as the main destination for Peruvian exports. Its share has reached 41.6% of the total in 2019, compared to 18.4% at the beginning of the millennium (see Table 9).

From the total exported to Asia-16, three major trading partners emerge as the main destinations. Namely, the People's Republic of China, Republic of Korea and Japan, which together accounted for 92.7% of the total exported to the region in 2019. This concentration has become more accentuated over time, seeing as the three markets aforementioned accounted for 71.7% of the Peruvian exports to the region in 2000. This trend is a result of the evolution of the People's Republic of China as the main market for Peru in Asia-Pacific and in the world. For their part, Japan decreased its share and the Republic of Korea remained more or less constant in the same period, despite the growth in the value of Peruvian exports to these two economies (see Table 10).

The exports to the People's Republic of China experienced sustained growth over the past twenty years. It went from US\$ 443 million (35.1% of the total exports to Asia-Pacific) in 2000 to US\$ 13,546 million (70.6% of that regional total) in 2019. In other words, the Chinese economy doubled their share as a destination for Peruvian exports in the Asia-Pacific region in this period. The annual average growth rate of Peruvian exports to the Chinese market was 20%, much greater than the growth of its exports to other economies in Asia-Pacific (except for Vietnam). Indeed, it was greater than the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Once again, it should be noted that part of these flows is composed of the so-called "round-trip investments" originated in mainland China (refer back to subsection 1.2).

annual average growth rate of Peruvian exports to the world, which was 10.5% in that period (see Tables 9 and 10).

As for other major destinations for Peruvian products, in the case of the EU and LAC, each one grew annually by around 10% on average. Meanwhile, the exports to the United States increased by an annual average rate of 5.9% in the same period (see Table 9).

#### Exports composition

Another important aspect of the Peruvian trade with Asia-Pacific is the concentration of exports in traditional sectors, a trend which has gained force over time. In 2000, such sectors accounted for 88.8% of the Peruvian exports to this region, but that share rose to 91% in 2019. These exports were mostly composed of mineral commodities, which represented 79.2% of the trade flows to Asia-Pacific in 2019, compared to 34.8% in 2000. The foregoing figures largely surpasses the traditional fishing sector, which is the second most important (see Table 11).

Certainly, this increased share of mining exports was a result of the rise in the Chinese demand. China received 77% of the Peruvian mineral exports to Asia-Pacific, which represented 44% of such exports to the world in 2019. In the specific case of copper, its share is even greater, that economy is the main destination for Peruvian copper, responding for 67% of this export to the world or 80% of such shipments to the Asia-Pacific region in 2019. This commodity is exported in the form of concentrates, cathodes and sections of cathodes, and anodes (see Table 12).

As for non-traditional exports to the region under analysis, notwithstanding the high growth experienced (12-fold in the period 2000-2019), their share in the total is still very low and declining. In 2019, non-traditional sectors responded for 9% of the Peruvian exports to Asia-Pacific, compared to 11.2% at the beginning of the century. Twenty years ago, the fishing, textile, metallurgical, and steelmaking sectors were the most important Peruvian non-traditional exports to these markets. By 2019, the fishing, livestock and agro-industrial sectors dominated widely in this category (see Table 11).

It is very important to note that the concentration on traditional sectors is greater in the case of Peruvian exports to the People's Republic of China. In effect, it accounted for 95.5% of the total in 2019, whereas non-traditional exports represented the remaining 4.5%. What is more, the share of the latter has declined in relation to the beginning of the period under analysis (see Table 13).

However, the efforts to expand non-traditional exports are noteworthy, as it has grown from US\$ 25 million in 2000 to US\$ 611 million in 2019. This expansion was driven by the fishing, agriculture and agro-industrial sectors. Undoubtedly, the transformation of the People's Republic of China after four decades of reforms and internationalization (which resulted in poverty reduction, rise of the middle class, urban population growth, among other trends, as analyzed in section 1) presents an opportunity for exports of fresh and processed food products from the agricultural and fishing sectors in Peru.

#### Trade balance

The trade balance has fluctuated in period analyzed. After the economic crisis of 2008, it is possible to identify three phases of the Peruvian trade balance with the Asia-Pacific region. The first of them (2009-2011) was marked by a surplus for Peru. In the second one (2012-2016), the Peruvian economy experienced a trade deficit. During the third

phase (2017-2019), the exports from Peru regained momentum and tilted the balance in its favor once again (see Figure 22).

This development has been influenced by the international copper prices (BCRP, 2020), the main Peruvian export. Indeed, in 2009, copper presented an average price of US\$ 234.3 cents per pound, which went up to US\$ 397.5 cents in 2011. In the second phase, copper prices fell sharply from US\$ 360.9 cents per pound in 2012 to US\$ 220.8 in 2016. Between 2017 and 2019, the increase of Peruvian mineral exports coincided with a significant rise in international copper prices, which reached around US\$ 300 cents per pound.

#### Trade agreements with Asia-Pacific economies

Out of the 20 trade agreements in force between Peru and other countries, six are with economies in the Asia-Pacific region. Since it joined APEC in 1998, Peru deepened its perspective on opportunities presented by closer relations with countries from Asia and Oceania in the Pacific basin. Not only on diplomatic matters, but also in trade and investment. Since then, the country has expanded its strategy with the negotiation of FTAs aiming to improve the conditions to access these markets.

In effect, one of the first FTAs to enter into force in Peru was with an Asian economy, namely, Singapore in August 2009. The other five bilateral FTAs with countries in the region came into force between 2010 and 2020: the People's Republic of China in 2010; Republic of Korea and Thailand<sup>13</sup> in 2011; Japan in 2012; and Australia in 2020 (see Table 14).

The early treaties have been followed by the negotiation of more in-depth trade agreements that include relevant provisions on: intellectual property rights, competition policies, labor issues, environmental protection, public procurement, telecommunications, among others. These topics would contribute to further develop the Peruvian trade with its main partner in the Asia-Pacific region. In line with this, the upgrading of the FTA under negotiation with the People's Republic of China includes: trade in services, investment, intellectual property, electronic commerce, competition policies, customs procedures, trade facilitation and rules of origin (MINCETUR, 2019).

The CPTPP is another important trade agreement, considered to be in-depth and up-todate, which is still awaiting approval in Congress to enter into force in Peru. This treaty entered into force on December 30, 2018 for the first six members to complete the ratification process (Australia, Canada, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand and Singapore). Subsequently, on January 14, 2019, it entered into force for Vietnam. In the case of the remaining countries (Chile, Peru, Malaysia and Brunei Darussalam), once ratified, the agreement will enter into force automatically after 60 days. Notably, this agreement makes it possible to use the accumulation of origin among the eleven-member economies, which would facilitate the insertion of Peru into global value chains in Asia-Pacific.

In line with these more in-depth and plurilateral agreements, the Pacific Alliance, a scheme of integration between four Latin American countries in the Pacific basin (Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru), has opened a space for "associated countries". In this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In the case of Thailand, it consists of the "Protocol between the Republic of Peru and the Kingdom of Thailand to Accelerate the Liberalization of Trade in Goods and Trade Facilitation." Building upon this document, amendments were negotiated and resulted in additional protocols. These agreements constitute prior steps that pave the way for the negotiation of a more in-depth FTA in the future.

framework, trade agreements are under negotiation, simultaneously, between the four member-countries and Australia, Canada, New Zealand and Singapore.

#### Peruvian trade with the Asia-Pacific region: Pending challenges

As noted above, in the past twenty years, Peruvian exports to Asia-Pacific have increased more than to any other region or trading partner. The People's Republic of China, in particular, has been playing a central role as a destination for such exports. However, the limited share of non-traditional sectors in the exports to Asia-16 is a distinctive aspect of this commercial exchanges, which contrasts with the importance that such products gained for Peruvian exports to other destinations.

Two very different patterns can be observed in Peruvian exports. In the first one, nontraditional exports to the EU, United States and LAC, which were already relatively important, gained more weight. In 2000, the beginning of the period under analysis, nontraditional exports accounted for more than 30% of shipments to those destinations. By 2019, the shares rose to almost 50% for the EU, around 60% for Latin America, and 70% for the United States<sup>14</sup> (see Figure 23).

As for the second pattern, the share of non-traditional products in total exports to the People's Republic of China and Asia-Pacific remained relatively low and declined slightly in the period analyzed. The respective shares reached 6% and 11% in 2000, compared to 5% and 9% in 2019. Nevertheless, if the People's Republic of China is taken out of the equation, the numbers for the rest of Asia-16 show a different picture. The share of non-traditional sectors rises to 20% of the total exported to those economies in 2019, indicating that the challenge is basically to diversify exports to the People's Republic of China, with especial attention to higher value-added products.

Decidedly, the challenge for Peru is in the adoption of policies aimed at diversifying exports. The country is already moving in this direction, seeing as non-traditional exports from agriculture and agro-industries, as well as fishing products, have been notably gaining importance in recent years. It is necessary to make efforts in another complementary front for export diversification, namely, manufacturing. Special attention should be given to intermediate goods that can be inserted into global value chains led by Chinese firms or from other economies in the Asia-Pacific region.

To contribute to this process, the manufacturing delocalization and integration experience between Northeast and Southeast Asia should be studied. Such an analysis could offer insights on how to promote a process like this between Asian and Latin American economies. This kind of research should:

- Examine trends in trade and direct investment between the economies in Northeast and Southeast Asia.
- Analyze driving forces for manufacturing delocalization involving these economies.
- Study industrial policy instruments implemented to attract companies in process of delocalization.
- Assess the role of FTA and agreements for the promotion and protection of investments, in this process of delocalization.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In the case of the United States, it should be noted that, while non-traditional exports were on the rise, the higher share was a result mostly of the fall in traditional exports. Gold exports to the United States dropped from US\$ 1,856 million (in 2018) to US\$ 331 million (in 2019), while oil products went from US\$ 1,526 million (in 2018) to US\$ 475 million (in 2019). In contrast, agricultural exports grew significantly, from US\$ 1,875 (in 2018) to US\$ 2,262 (in 2019), which represented a historic record, with fruits at the forefront as the main product (Adex Data Trade, 2020). Be that as it may, as shown in Figure 23, non-traditional exports to the United States have remained above 40% of the total since 2014.
- Identify the benefits obtained by both the economies that are the origin (Northeast Asia) and the hosts (Southeast Asia) of the delocalized production.
- Explore the part played by other factors, such as the availability of resources, labor cost, logistic costs, connectivity efficiency, degree of informality in the economy, innovation, among others, either to attract or discourage the manufacturing delocalization.

The objective would be to identify lessons learned from this intra-Asian process, which could be useful for the design of public policies and business strategies in Peru with respect to Asia-Pacific. Additionally, a study like this should identify advantages and disadvantages Peru would have to participate in a process of manufacturing delocalization similar to that involving Northeast and Southeast Asia. Possibly, such process could focus firstly in Peru-China relations.

Furthermore, it would be important to understand if the driving forces of production delocalization in East Asia could play a role in the case of Peru. For instance: how significant would the role of connectivity be? what aspects of industrial policy in Asian economies could be applied? among other questions. This analysis should be placed in the framework of a long-term projection of the Peruvian relations with China and Asia-Pacific.

# 2.3. Comparative analysis between Peru and Asia-Pacific economies: the challenge of competitiveness and productivity

While free trade is essential for economic growth, high priority should be given to factors affecting competitiveness and productivity. Against this backdrop, the present subsection focuses on examining the conditions in Peru vis-à-vis those in Asia-Pacific economies with regards to a group of indicators on both concepts aforementioned.

Among their recommendations for the future agenda of APEC, the reports from PECC (2019) and AVG (2019) proposed that high priority should be given to structural reforms in member economies in order to increase productivity through open, well-functioning, transparent and competitive markets. It considers that a competitive and open economy contributes to sustaining growth and increasing productivity and income. Likewise, digital and technological transformation would bear an enormous potential to support growth, promote innovation and facilitate connectivity, in addition to being an important instrument for social inclusion (AVG, 2019: 15-21).

In the case of Peru, these recommendations are of utmost importance, as suggested by the comparison of the Peruvian economy with respect to Asia-16.

# Per capita income and competitiveness

The World Bank classifies economies in high, medium and low-income based on their Gross National Income (GNI) per capita, Atlas method, which is an indicator of the standard of living. Table 15 puts in evidence that Peru has the opportunity to engage with high-income economies on the other side of the Pacific, as half of the Asia-16 economies are in that income group (according to data from 2018).

Peru is located in the upper middle-income group, along with the People's Republic of China, Russia, Malaysia and Thailand, thus sharing with them the challenge of reaching the high-income stage. In this group, Peru is the economy with the lowest per capita income and it only surpasses the four Asia-16 economies at lower middle-income.

For its part, the World Economic Forum Global Competitiveness Index (GCI) assesses the set of institutions, policies and factors determining the level of productivity (Schwab, 2019). This index shows that the eight high-income Asia-16 economies also hold the best positions in the competitiveness ranking (see Table 16), except for Brunei Darussalam, whose high-income is correlated to its oil exports, which accounted for 91% of its total exports in 2019 (Department of Economic Planning and Statistics of Brunei Darussalam, 2019). Comparatively, Peru has a poor performance vis-à-vis Asia-16, seeing as it sits at the penultimate place, only ahead of Vietnam.

#### Pillars of competitiveness

The GCI is based on twelve pillars. Figure 24 presents a comparison between Peru and the most competitive Asia-16 economy in each pillar. As it can be observed, only in the Pillar IV "Macroeconomic Stability" does Peru have a high score, sharing the top position with Hong Kong, China; Chinese Taipei; Republic of Korea; Australia; New Zealand; and Malaysia. In the other eleven pillars, there is a considerable gap between Peru and the most competitive Asia-16 economy.

Notably, there is a great gap in the Pillar III "Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Adoption," where the score for the most competitive economy in the group (Republic of Korea) is twice as much as that of Peru. In the Pillar XII "Innovation Capability," the most competitive economy (Chinese Taipei) is even further ahead of Peru. Its score in this pillar is 2.4 times that of the Peruvian economy.

Singapore has the best competitiveness index in Asia-16 for pillars I "Institutions," II "Infrastructure" and VIII "Labor Market". The Peruvian competitiveness index reaches around 60% to 70% of the Singaporean in these areas. In other pillars, the gap to the most competitive Asia-16 economy is of the same order. The Peruvian score is around 70% that of New Zealand in the pillars VI "Skills" and XI "Business Dynamism." A similar gap is observed with Hong Kong, China in the pillars VII "Product Market" and IX "Financial System."

In order to see where Peru stands in relation to the People's Republic of China, its main partner in Asia-Pacific, Figure 24 also includes the Chinese score for each GCI pillar. The greatest differences between these two economies can be observed in the pillars III "ICT Adoption" and XII "Innovation capacity." There is also a significant gap in the pillars II "Infrastructure", IX "Financial System" and XI "Business Dynamism." Naturally, due to the different scale of their economies, the size of the market (Pillar X) offers a much more important support for competitiveness in the People's Republic of China than in Peru. Overall, in at least half of the GCI pillars, there is a significant gap between the level of competitiveness that the Chinese economy has reached and that of Peru.

In sum, this panorama shows that there are economies in Asia-Pacific that can be interesting references for Peru. They represent a source of lessons learned that could contribute to the Peruvian development process, this notion gains even more importance when considered how Peru lags behind Asia-16 economies. With that in mind, next, this paper deepens in the analysis of some selected pillars.

# Connectivity, ICT, innovation and skills

In these four pillars, Peru is quite far behind Asia-16 economies. In Infrastructure, it holds the penultimate position in the ranking of competitiveness in the comparison with Asia-16 economies, surpassing only the Philippines (see Table 17). This pillar includes transportation, electricity and water. Therefore, in order to focus on the concept of connectivity, the relevant ranking is relative to transportation for the economies under consideration. This comparison shows that Peru remains also at the penultimate place, only ahead of the Philippines. However, its overall comparative situation in the world is worse, seeing as it holds the position 96 in transportation, compared to the position 87 in infrastructure at global level.

In terms of transportation by road, the comparative performance is even worse, as it is ranked at position 111 (out of 141 economies), once again, only ahead of the Philippines in Asia-16. In transportation by air and sea, Peru does relatively better, as it is more or less in the middle of the world ranking (position 65 in transportation by air and 52 by sea – out of 141 and 108 economies, respectively). However, relative to Asia-16, it also sits at penultimate place in transportation by air and, in terms of transportation by sea, it is surpassed by 13 out of the 16 economies from Asia and Oceania under analysis (see Table 18).

The GCI Skills pillar is based on years of schooling, extent of staff training, quality of vocational training, skillset of secondary-school and university graduates, digital skills among the economically active population, ease of finding skilled employees, school life expectancy, critical thinking in teaching, pupil-to-teacher ratio in primary education. Compared with Asia-16, Peru reaches a competitiveness score that also places the country at the penultimate position, only ahead of Vietnam (see Table 19).

Nonetheless, it is in the pillars of ICT Adoption and Innovation that Peru lags behind the most. ICT adoption supports the innovation capability of people and businesses, so both topics are interconnected. At the global level, the Peruvian economy holds position 90 in terms of Innovation Capability and position 98 in ICT Adoption (out of 141 economies in both cases). However, vis-à-vis Asia-16, Peru is at the very bottom of the competitiveness ranking (see Table 19). The Asia-Pacific region is one of the most dynamic and innovative regions in the world, whereas the Peruvian current capacity seems extremely frail in those areas.

In this context, as a topic closely related to these pillars, it is worth looking into the issue of digital transformation in the framework of the Fourth Industrial Revolution (Pertuzé, 2019). Related to that, the "Vision to 2040," prepared by AVG, highlighted that it is necessary to foster an environment that enables individuals and companies to benefit from the digital transformation. It was also noted that universal and fast broadband Internet connection is indispensable to support the digital economy development. Furthermore, while the technological and digital transformation has the potential to raise productivity, generate new business models and highly qualified jobs, it also brings disruptive effects to the traditional production processes. In view of the foregoing, it is fundamental to prepare the workforce to absorb and adapt quickly to new technologies (AVG, 2019).

ICT, innovation, education and skills complement each other and represent areas with great potential for international cooperation with the Asia-Pacific region. Peru, which lags behind Asia-16 economies in these aspects, should make efforts to take full advantage of this opportunity in the framework of its strategy to improve competitiveness and productivity. It is also necessary to rethink how education and ICT can be combined in a single strategy (Gonzales et al., 2016).

#### Macroeconomic stability, institutions and business dynamism

As already noted, Peru has much better performance in the pillar of Macroeconomic Stability. It even outperforms Singapore, the economy that holds the top position worldwide in the overall GCI (i.e. considering all pillars). In fact, in this pillar, Singapore is at position 38, whereas Peru ranks number 1 (see Table 20).

This pillar measures how favorable the economic background is using indicators on inflation and public debt dynamics. Meanwhile, the Institutions pillar assesses the quality of the institutional framework in the country. The solid macroeconomic stability of Peru contrasts with the score attained in Institutions. In this case, like in other pillars, Peru sits at the bottom of the ranking with regards to Asia-16 economies (see Table 20). It should be observed that this pillar measures various indicators on areas such as judicial independence, crime rates, future orientation of government, freedom of the press, burden of government regulation, among others. Peru is ranked 94 globally (out of 141 economies).

Business Dynamism represents another pillar in which there are pending tasks for the Peruvian economy. Once again, Peru holds the last position in the comparison with Asia-16 economies and, globally, it is considerably below the average, at position 96 (out of 141 economies). The pillar assesses the cost and time necessary to start a business, insolvency regulatory framework, growth of innovative companies, among others. It is worth noting that 12 of the Asia-16 economies have earned positions in the upper third of the global ranking, while Peru is in the lower third.

#### Logistics competitiveness and trade openness

It is important to explore another set of relevant indicators that impact the Peruvian ability to compete with other economies in international trade. The World Bank (2018) provides an index on logistics performance that is based on six components: efficiency of customs and border clearance; quality of trade and transportation infrastructure; ease of arranging competitively priced shipments; competence and quality of logistics services; ability to track and trace consignments; and frequency with which shipments reach consignees within scheduled or expected delivery times. This index reveals a scenario similar to that of the GCI. Peru is second to last in logistics performance in the ranking with Asia-16, only ahead of Papua New Guinea (see Table 21).

Peru fares better regarding trade openness, although quite behind some Asian-16 economies. Using data from 2018, this indicator presents the ratio of trade (exports and imports of goods and services) to GDP (see Figure 25). Notwithstanding the Peruvian progress in this area, its trade represents 49% of the GDP, which is comparable to the ratios of the largest Asia-16 economies, such as the People's Republic of China, Indonesia, Russia and Australia. Seeing as Peru is an economy with a relatively small market, its engagement in international trade should be greater. That being said, it is worth noting the progress that Peru has made in trade liberalization, which can be seen in the low average tariff of 1.25% recorded in 2018. In this regard, Peru does very well in the comparison with Asia-16 economies (see Figure 26).

#### From competitiveness to productivity: absolute value and growth rate

Labor productivity, measured as the average output per worker in constant 2011 PPP dollars, has grown in the past almost thirty years (1990-2018) in all Asia-16 economies, except for Brunei Darussalam, and in the case of Peru as well (see Table 22). As indicated in the first section of this study (see Table 1), the People's Republic of China has experienced the most substantial growth, it has sustained an annual average growth rate of 8.52% in labor productivity, which resulted in a 10-fold increase in its level of productivity in the period analyzed.

The Chinese productivity per worker went from US\$ 3,055 in 1990 (the lowest in Asia-16) to US\$ 32,718 in 2018 (see Table 22). Even so, the gap with Singapore (the top economy in productivity in Asia-16) is still very large, around 5 to 1 in 2018. Vietnam enjoys the second place in growth of productivity per worker, with an annual average rate of 4.62% in the period 1990-2018. As a result, Vietnam has nearly quadrupled its productivity in the period, though the starting point was very low with respect to other Asian-16 economies (similar to the Chinese case).

It is possible to identify six different groups when observing the annual average growth rate of productivity in Asia-16 economies and Peru in the period under analysis. 1) high growth (the People's Republic of China and Vietnam); 2) annual average growth rate equal or greater than 3% (Thailand, Republic of Korea, Indonesia, among others); 3) annual growth between 2% and 3% (e.g. Malaysia, Singapore, Philippines, among others); 4) growth between 1% and 2% (including Peru and Australia); 5) growth between 0% and 1% (the case of Japan and others); and finally 6) decrease (Brunei Darussalam) (refer back to Table 1).

Against this backdrop, although the Peruvian productivity grew at an average rate of 1.91% a year, most Asia-16 economies progressed faster, which has increased the gap between Peru and these economies in terms of productivity per worker. Consequently, the productivity of Peru (in absolute terms and growth rate) is lower than most Asia-16 economies. This means that the country has the important challenge of increasing productivity and such a priority issue should also be reflected in the Peruvian agenda of economic insertion in Asia-Pacific.

# 2.4. China and Asia-Pacific in national plans

This last subsection analyzes the extent to which national visions and plans pay attention to China and the Asia-Pacific region. To this end, firstly, it is necessary to look at a more general level and examine how the international economic insertion of Peru is considered in the national strategic planning. Secondly, this subsection seeks to identify any references to China and Asia-Pacific in that framework.

# Scope

It starts with a review of the Peruvian State policies agreed at the National Agreement Forum (Acuerdo Nacional, 2019) and then it examines the long-term vision, as well as the national policies and plans most relevant to this discussion. Regarding the scope of the analysis, it is necessary to make some clarifications:

- First, it focuses on the most recent instruments on future vision produced by CEPLAN, namely: Peru's Image Proposal to 2030 (preliminary version), presented to the National Agreement Forum in February 2017 (CEPLAN, 2017a); the guidelines to update the Strategic Plan for National Development, of May 2017 (CEPLAN, 2017b); and the Vision of Peru to 2050 approved by the National Agreement Forum in April 2019 (Acuerdo Nacional and CEPLAN, 2019).
- Second, it centers on the most recent multisectoral policies and plans considered to have a significant impact on Peru's international economic insertion. Namely: the National Policy for Competitiveness and Productivity, from December 2018 (MEF, 2018), the National Plan for Competitiveness and Productivity (MEF, 2019a), and the National Infrastructure Plan for Competitiveness (MEF, 2019b), both from July 2019.
- Third, it examines plans from two sectors that are intrinsically related to the international arena. These are the Long-Term Sectoral Strategic Plan 2012-2021 by the MRE (MRE, 2012), and the National Strategic Exports Plan (Plan Estratégico Nacional Exportador – PENX) 2025 by the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism (MINCETUR, 2015) approved in 2015.

Given the nature of this study, the objective here is not to examine in detail each one of these instruments that include a number of specific topics. Instead, it aims at illustrating an important weakness in Peru's economic approach internationally: the lack of a clearly defined vision for the country's insertion in the global economy.

This vision should give rise to a multisectoral strategic plan for the international economic insertion of Peru. It should encompass various sectoral dimensions (and actions) in an integrated manner so as to realize the vision for the country's insertion in the world economy. In this framework, there should be a specific vision for Peru's economic projection towards China and Asia-Pacific, as well as measures to realize it.

#### State policies of the National Agreement Forum and the international stage

In general, Peru's national planning is rooted in the 35 State policies of the National Agreement Forum (29 of them approved by said forum in 2002 and 6 more between 2003 and 2017). They are divided into four axes:

- I. Democracy and Rule of Law.
- II. Equity and Social Justice.
- III. Competitiveness of the Country.
- IV. Efficient, Transparent and Decentralized Government.

Axis I "Democracy and Rule of Law" includes policy no. 6 on "Foreign Policy for Peace, Democracy, Development and Integration", which aims at promoting an "adequate insertion of the country in the world and in international markets by keeping a close link between external actions and national development priorities". Among other purposes, the objective of the State is to strengthen the country's diplomacy to serve as "an instrument to promote development objectives, commercial expansion, and attract investments and resources for international cooperation" (Acuerdo Nacional, 2019, pp. 2-3).

In the economic sphere, Axis III "Competitiveness of the Country" is the most closely related to international insertion. Policy no. 18 is about "Striving for Improved Competitiveness, Productivity and Formalization of Economic Activities", it notes that the State should increase the country's competitiveness in order to, among others objectives, "successfully integrate Peru into the global economy". To this end, "it will promote goods and services with higher value-added and increase exports, especially non-traditional ones" (Acuerdo Nacional, 2019, p.10). Therefore, policy no. 18 is intertwined with others related to international trade.

In particular, policy no. 22 on "Foreign Trade for the Expansion of Markets based on Reciprocity" (Acuerdo Nacional, 2019, pp. 12-13) postulates the need to "realize the country's competitive insertion in international markets". A series of mechanisms and instruments are listed as means to help achieve that purpose, both in terms of trade policy and economic policy in general. However, the actual vision is still to "increase and diversify markets for national goods and services with higher value-added". Along these lines, policy no. 23 on "Agrarian and Rural Development" reiterates the vision of achieving the country's competitive insertion in international markets and increase exports of products with higher value-added. (Acuerdo Nacional, 2019, pp. 12-13).

#### National vision and the international stage

The Image of Peru to 2030 (preliminary version) proposal was prepared by CEPLAN to serve as the basis for a dialogue among the members of the National System for Strategic Planning of Peru (Sistema Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico – SINAPLAN)

(CEPLAN, 2017a). Presented in 2017, this proposal contains five main provisions whose targets are related to SDGs—part of the United Nations Agenda 2030 (Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas, 2015).

The third provision of this pre-image proposes that, by 2030, "all people enjoy a prosperous and full life, with decent employment and in harmony with nature, considering reserves of resources for future well-being" (CEPLAN, 2017a, p. 4). While this provision makes no references to the international sphere, one of its targets is "to increase the value-added of products from medium and high technology industries" (2017a, p. 7), which is directly related to the State policies of the National Agreement Forum and its provision on boosting exports with higher value-added. Notably, in the 2030 Agenda, this indicator matches SDG No. 9 on "Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure" (Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas, 2015).

The pre-image also includes a fifth provision postulating that, by 2030, "alliances [will] have been strengthened to achieve sustainable development [...]" (CEPLAN, 2017a, p. 4). In this case, the targets are: a) increase non-traditional exports and b) attract more FDI (as % of GDP). Therefore, it is clear that these alliances to achieve sustainable development refer to international partnerships. Moreover, the vision for the country's insertion in the global economy is systematically based on two main elements: increasing exports of products with higher value-added and attracting investment.

For its part, the Vision of Peru to 2050, approved by the National Agreement Forum in 2019, projects that Peru will be "integrated into the world". It further notes that, by 2050, national efforts will have "successfully integrated Peru into the global economy" (Acuerdo Nacional & CEPLAN, 2019, pp. 2-3). For that purpose, "Peru would promote goods and services with higher value-added; and increase exports, especially non-traditional ones".

Although such concepts are not new in Peruvian planning, the Vision 2050 brings some important new considerations. For instance, it stresses that Peru should "diversify its production; foment industry, manufacturing and the services sector [...] promote technological innovation and its development" (2019, p. 4). It is reasonable to assume that non-traditional exports are included in such considerations about national production.

Furthermore, it proposes that Peru "fosters a favorable environment for national and foreign private investment" for 2050, which is another concept that is taken up from previous planning. It also notes that Peru will "respect international treaties and agreements" and it will be "a sovereign State solidly integrated onto the world stage" (Acuerdo Nacional & CEPLAN, 2019, p. 4).

The heart of the matter is that the Peruvian integration into the global economy must be "successful" and its integration onto the world stage must be "solid." The details of the vision, intermediate objectives, goals and indicators, and action plans are yet to be formulated, all of which would be part of the National Strategic Plan to 2050. It is worth exploring whether it is feasible and desirable to design a strategic plan for international insertion alongside this national strategic plan. In that case, these two schemes should keep close links to create the conditions to adopt a comprehensive and multisectoral approach for the internationalization of the Peruvian economy.

#### Multisectoral plans and the international stage

The National Policy for Competitiveness and Productivity constitutes the general framework for the national plan of the same name and the National Infrastructure Plan for Competitiveness. This policy concerns "the ability of a nation to compete successfully in various markets, while efficiently using its resources and exploiting its comparative

advantages, ultimately contributing to improving the well-being of all citizens" (MEF, 2018, p. 12).

It targets 2030, aiming for Peru to be one of the three most competitive countries in Latin America. It is noted that the Peruvian export basket is highly concentrated in traditional products, which places the country in position 94 out of 127 economies (behind countries such as Colombia, Chile and Mexico) in the Ranking of Economic Complexity prepared by Harvard University. What is more, Peru's Economic Complexity Index has continuously deteriorated since 2001<sup>15</sup> (MEF, 2018, p.13).

Hence, economic diversification can be understood as the transition to a more sophisticated and complex productive structure. Some Asian countries are references in regards to the progress made to improve economic complexity, for example, Malaysia and Vietnam. From another perspective, Indonesia represents an exemplary case of improvements in TFP and GCI (MEF, 2018, pp. 14 and 19).

This policy has nine priority objectives (PO), several of which include references to comparisons with other countries, and two of them in particular mention the international sphere in the objective itself. Namely:

- PO 1: Provide the country with high-quality economic and social infrastructure
- PO 2: Strengthen human capital
- PO 3: Promote the development of capacities for innovation, adoption, and transfer of better technologies
- PO 4: Foster local and external financing mechanisms
- PO 7: Improve the conditions for foreign trade in goods and services

Regarding PO 1, transportation infrastructure conditions in Peru are below the Pacific Alliance average and, naturally, in comparison to the OECD as well. In concrete, it translates into a higher freight cost that, when compared to tariffs (calculation based on the cost of exporting to the United States), is 20 times greater than the OECD average (MEF, 2018, p. 26). In relation to PO 2, on human capital, comparisons to other economies shows an enormous gap between Peru and countries like the United States, and even Chile, in terms of reading comprehension and mathematics, among other aspects.

Concerning PO 3, on innovation and technology, it is noted that there is strong positive correlation between GDP per capita and spending on Research and Development (R&D). However, Peru only spends 0.11% of its GDP on R&D, which places the country in the last position when compared to other Latin American countries, the United States and OECD countries—based on 2015 figures for Peru and 2014 for the others (MEF, 2018, p. 44). Peru also lags behind the Pacific Alliance and OECD countries in terms of financing mechanisms, included in PO 4.

In sum, although there is an international comparative analysis component in the background, this plan lacks a strategy to, for example, identify relevant lessons to be learned from experiences of countries that are references for Peru. Such lessons could contribute to enhancing national policies to help Peru achieve the competitiveness levels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The economic complexity of a country is calculated based on the diversification of its exports and its ubiquity, i.e. the number of countries capable of producing the same items. It measures the level of productive sophistication of an economy. The ability of a country to produce new products is related to the pool of skills accumulated, which enables the economy to produce highly complex goods and, therefore, boost economic growth more easily than those countries with fewer skills (Hidalgo & Hausmann, 2009).

of those countries. Furthermore, although some Asian countries are mentioned, most cases use Latin American and OECD countries as international benchmarks.

Regarding PO 7, on foreign trade, the comparative analysis is centered on the Pacific Alliance and it mainly focuses on exports diversification. The policy guidelines to achieve this objective stresses the need to strengthen foreign trade logistics chain, as well as the insertion and climbing up in global and regional value chains, among other aspects (MEF, 2018, p. 72). In this regard, the National Policy and the National Plan for Competitiveness and Productivity converge with the PENX 2025. However, the latter was formulated before the other two instruments, which suggests it might be necessary to introduce adjustments to make them compatible with each other.

The National Plan for Competitiveness and Productivity, which was developed based on the policy of the same name, provides measures and target dates to meet the priority objectives. One of the most important measures is the National Infrastructure Plan for Competitiveness.

This plan has an international component, as one of its objectives is "to promote access to external markets". It entails "prioritizing infrastructure that improves Peru's competitiveness in international markets", given that "with greater connectivity, Peruvian products will be able to access international markets at lower costs". Moreover, "as Peru becomes more competitive, it will also become a major destination for foreign investment". Hence, "the development of ports, airports and logistic chains [...] is a necessary condition for the sustainability of the Peruvian economy" (MEF, 2019b, p. 13).

In close connection to previous provisions, this plan includes once again the components of the national vision on international economic insertion of Peru, namely: foreign trade and FDI. To complement them, infrastructure is added to the list, as it is instrumental to provide connectivity with competitive costs.

To estimate the long-term national infrastructure deficit, the National Infrastructure Plan for Competitiveness compares Peru to various countries holding benchmark results for long-term goals of this Andean country. In most infrastructure sectors and subsectors, Peru is compared with the average for OECD countries. In other areas, countries that face geographical challenges similar to those of Peru were selected for the comparison, such as Pacific Alliance countries, among others. Interestingly, in the case of ports, Peru's long-term infrastructure gap is determined using as reference the average of a group of Asian countries composed of China, Indonesia, Japan, Republic of Korea, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand and Vietnam (MEF, 2019b, pp. 16-21).

In the framework of PO 7, aiming at improving the conditions for foreign trade in goods and services, the National Plan for Competitiveness and Productivity proposes other measures that make direct references to the international sphere. These include the development of special economic zones, as mechanisms that promote private investment in Peru "particularly large investments in technology to enhance the degree of sophistication in goods and services". In addition, it proposes to position Peru as a logistics hub, that is, "an important logistics platform [...] aimed at connecting national and international logistics networks". Among others actions, the measures include improving port-airport connectivity and access to them, improving the Callao-Chancay multimodal axis and establishing an efficient national logistics system based on good international practices (MEF, 2019a, pp. 36-37).

Moreover, the so-called National Strategy for the Development of Industrial Parks is considered to be a measure that seeks to create conditions to develop a productive business environment, as stipulated by PO 6 (MEF, 2019a, p. 30). These elements

introduce the international sphere in the multisectoral plans analyzed, but they make no explicit reference to the learning opportunity offered by the Chinese and Asia-Pacific successful experiences in many of these issues.

#### Sectoral plans targeting the international arena

When describing key characteristics of the current state of affairs on the international stage, the Long-Term Strategic Sector Plan 2012-2021 rightly highlights "the transformation of the international political order towards a multipolar system" (MRE, 2012, p. 5). Meanwhile, its predecessor, the Long-Term Strategic Sector Plan 2003-2015, considered that the world was fast approaching "the establishment of a new unipolar international political order" (MRE, nd, p. 1). Although not explicitly mentioned, the rise of China as a world power would play a role in the dawn of a multipolar order.

This plan aims that Peru "consolidates a solid international position". This ambition also seen in the Vision of Peru to 2050, which, as already pointed out, states that Peru will be "a State [...] solidly integrated into the world stage". In this context, it is necessary to specify the components of a solid international integration and how to realize it. Due to its international nature, the plan on foreign affairs has a geographical focus and, in the vision guiding this plan, priority is given to "the Andean, Amazonian, Pacific, South American and Latin American bordering regions" (MRE, 2012, p. 5). It is reasonable to assume that the "Pacific" region includes China and the rest of East Asian countries, meaning that these nations would also be included in the priority areas for Peruvian foreign affairs.

In the strategic axis of "Opening up to the World", it is proposed that Peru should deepen its political relations with Japan, China, the Republic of Korea and India, and with other countries and multilateral mechanisms in Asia and in the Pacific basin. There is no explanation as to why these countries are mentioned in that order. In broad terms, this list of countries highlights the importance of Northeast Asia (where the main economic partners of Peru are) and India. This entails that the strategy considers Asia as a whole, not only Asia-Pacific, since India is not part of that group (MRE, 2012, p. 14).

At the level of specific mechanisms, the plan mentions strategic alliances, improving legal frameworks for bilateral relations and participation in multilateral forums. The economic sphere includes the usual components, trade, investment, cooperation, technology transfer, among others. The new component is the link between these elements and the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP) which was, at the time this plan was formulated, the main initiative under construction on economic integration in Asia-Pacific.

As for PENX 2025, this also constitutes a sectoral plan with strategies that are directly related to the international sphere. The following strategic objectives were established: (i) deepen the internationalization of companies; (ii) increase and diversify exports of goods and services with higher value-added while observing sustainability concerns; and (iii) improve the competitiveness of the exporting sector. Four pillars have been defined as a frame of reference for a series of lines of action, programs and projects. It is an extensive plan whose final goal is to consolidate the presence of Peruvian exporting companies abroad (MINCETUR, 2015, p. 51).

It highlights three large regional markets as the most important: "in recent year, the large Asian market has become the great driver of international business, including the more traditional markets of the European Union and North America" (MINCETUR, 2015, p. 57). In view of the foregoing, it can be inferred that the plan would seek to promote closer ties with Asia in order to harness the opportunities offered by this driver of international business. However, in doing so, Peru should not neglect traditional markets and partners.

One of the PENX programs consists of drafting, systematizing and implementing of Market Development Plans (MDP). In the PENX 2003-2013, their predecessors were the Operational Plans for Market Development (OPM). Regarding Asia-Pacific countries, there were OPMs for China, Japan and ASEAN 1 (Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand), which were issued in May 2007, as well as for the Republic of Korea, issued in August 2010 (MINCETUR, 2020b).

In the framework of PENX 2025, there are already eight MDPs for American markets and the same number for European markets, but only two for Asian markets, namely, Republic of Korea and Japan, issued in July and August 2019, respectively (MINCETUR, 2020c). In other words, according to the information available on the MINCETUR website on April 20, 2020, the specific plan for China has not been updated since 2007. That represents an important pending task, especially considering that the process to upgrade the Peru-China FTA is under negotiation.

The Strategic Plan for Foreign Affairs was approved in 2012 and the PENX in 2015, both aiming 10 years ahead. Therefore, these instruments require updates to better reflect the current global circumstances, as well the provisions in the Vision of Peru to 2050—which will lead to the design of a new National Strategic Plan—and multisectoral plans, such as the Plan for Competitiveness and Productivity. What is more, Asia-Pacific has experienced significant changes, especially the transformation and international projection of China, which suggests that it is necessary to review the Peruvian long-term strategy for its international projection with respect to this region.

# Conclusions

In 2021, Peru celebrates the bicentennial of its independence and also the 50th anniversary of the establishment of diplomatic relations with the People's Republic of China. Therefore, it is a timely occasion to reflect about what the agenda for Peru-China relations in the next decades should be, as well as to identify the Peruvian priorities in Asia-Pacific. Both topics are interconnected due to the central role of China in the context of the Peruvian insertion in that region.

Aiming to contribute to this strategic planning, this study has sought to provide insights on the transformation of the Chinese economy and the trends for its future, as well as its international economic strategy. To this end, rather than analyzing Peru-China relations specifically, the methodology adopted consisted of exploring the evolution of the Chinese economy in order to draw insights and identify trends that Peru could use to design a strategy that leads to substantial changes in the traditional pattern of its relations with China, characterized mainly by raw materials exports and investments in extractive sectors.

A second aspect to highlight is that the study has not focused on market opportunities in China and Asia-Pacific in general, but rather on the results of their development strategies. To this end, it has analyzed various indicators of competitiveness and productivity to offer a comparison between Peru and economies from Asia and Oceania in the Pacific basin that are members of APEC. It has sought to provide insights aiming at contributing to enriching the Peruvian agenda with China and the Asia-Pacific region in a way that supports structural changes in Peru.

A third aspect to note is that this research has explored how China and Asia-Pacific are contemplated in the framework of Peruvian national strategic planning. The analysis has shown that Peru has an important weakness: the lack of a clearly defined vision for the country's insertion in the global economy, an issue which reflects into the Peruvian economic projection towards China and Asia-Pacific. It is crucial to define the vision for Peru's insertion in the global economy and the measures to realize it. The conclusions from this study could contribute to that purpose in regards to China and Asia-Pacific economies.

The following paragraphs present the main conclusions from this study.

# 1. China's economic transformation and its climbing up in global value chains open opportunities for Peru

China has become the second largest economy in the world, after the United States, in terms of GDP in current dollars, or even the largest economy when measured according to other methods, such as GDP PPP in constant dollars.

#### Increased productivity

Undoubtedly, China represents an interesting case to be studied due to the experiences and lessons that can be learned from its transformation process. Its strength is based on, among other factors, being the economy that has had the highest productivity growth in Asia-Pacific since 1990.

# SEZs

The Chinese transformation process involved the growing participation of the country in global value chains. The first SEZs contributed to this and, once successful, eventually gave way to the creation of thousands of other manufacturing centers and industrial clusters throughout the country, which also became important world production centers. In 2019, China had 2,543 economic zones, which accounted for almost half of the SEZs that existed in the world. It suggests that SEZs can play an important role in attracting investment and encouraging exports, considering the Chinese economic success.

#### From "made in China" to "created/designed in China"

China acquired the central role of the "world's factory" and it is considered one of the few developing countries to be deeply integrated in global value chains. Nevertheless, in addition to the labor-intensive activities of assembling final goods, which were considered as China's main comparative advantage in the past decades, the country has increased its industrial capacity to produce and export high-technology goods, moving up the global value chains. Its objective is to upgrade its position from the "world's factory" to a model in which the creation and design takes place in China.

It is a structural reform on the supply side that consists in improving manufacturing productivity, and fomenting advanced manufacturing sectors and the full use of modern technologies (e.g. Internet, big data, artificial intelligence). China seeks to take part only in middle and upper segments of global value chains that require qualified local human capital.

# Production delocalization and the opportunities for Peru

In close connection to this process of moving up in global value chains, there is a process of production delocalization to other countries in Asia-Pacific, which are progressively replacing China in the production of labor-intensive goods (including intermediate products). And this process could represent an opportunity for Peru.

Certainly, the challenge for Peru with respect to China and Asia-Pacific lies in the need for policies aimed at diversifying exports composition. The country is already moving in this direction, seeing as exports of non-traditional agricultural, agro-industrial and fishing products have been notably gaining importance in recent years. However, it is necessary to make efforts in a front that is complementary to exports diversification, namely, manufacturing. In this regard, special attention should be given to intermediate goods that can be inserted in global value chains led by firms from China or other Asia-Pacific economies.

Manufacturing exports show the capacity of an economy to produce and export high value-added goods. In the case of LAC, its share of this type of exports is marginal and decreasing. In 2018, it accounted for 1.3% of world manufacturing exports, which is slightly smaller than the percentage observed in 2001. Therefore, the challenge is not only for Peru but for LAC as a whole.

In this context, it is recommendable to analyze the process of manufacturing production delocalization and integration between Northeast and Southeast Asia in order to draw lessons learned to promote this process among Asian economies and Latin American countries in the Pacific basin, particularly between China and Peru. In the present study, guidelines have been given to advance in this direction.

# 2. The position of China as a net investor will be reinforced by the Belt and Road Initiative, which will offer opportunities for Peru

In recent years, China's investments abroad have reached outstanding levels, making the Chinese economy one of the main sources of foreign direct investment in the world. In 2015, the country became a net investor, as outflows of FDI from China surpassed, for the first time in its history, the inflows it received. The development of the Belt and Road Initiative, which entails financing and investments in infrastructure and the presence of Chinese companies in industrial parks in developing countries, will certainly strengthen this trend.

# Peru in the Belt and Road Initiative

On April 25, 2019, Peru and China signed the "Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation in the Framework of the Initiative of the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road". It is therefore advisable for Peru to deepen its analysis on this topic in order to define its implementation strategy.

The key concept to understanding the Initiative are economic corridors, based on connectivity, which encompass not only infrastructure (transportation, energy and communications), but also the productive sector, including SEZs and other instruments to facilitate the integrations into global value chains. In other words, it is about building economic corridors, not isolated infrastructure projects.

#### South America connectivity with Asia-Pacific

Since the emphasis should be on connectivity with China, the extension of the Belt and Road Initiative to Latin America would be, in fact, the extension of the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road to the Pacific. Therefore, it is necessary to identify the potential role that Peru can play in transpacific connectivity.

Peru is located in the center of the Pacific coast of South America. That is why it is in a position to become a hub for international trade between the two sides of the Pacific basin and, in particular, between China and South America. It should be noted that

several countries in the region, not only Peru, share the same ambition. Ultimately, competitiveness will determine which country will play this role of hub on the South American side of the Pacific. Peru needs to update its strategy on this matter. The country should also continue to promote air connectivity.

Furthermore, digital connectivity represents another area with great potential. Some important questions have to be addressed in this regard, such as whether it is feasible to establish a direct submarine cable between South America and Asia and, if so, where the digital hub should be located in the South American side of the Pacific. Chile has made progress in developing technical studies and in identifying a route that would connect Asia and South America through Oceania. In consequence, the possibilities of Peru also being considered for such a connection would be low. In any case, the country should develop studies on this matter and incorporate the topic in a comprehensive strategy to harness the potential of the digital economy.

# Towards a Peru-China transpacific economic corridor

In sum, the extension of the Belt and Road Initiative to Latin America entails working on establishing one (or several) transpacific economic corridors, which would include infrastructure projects that have an impact on transpacific relations, as well as logistical aspects and productive projects related to such corridors. Peru could be the anchor of this corridor in South America. The Peruvian agenda with China could be enriched with this topic, but it should be framed within a clear strategy to be designed based on the feasibility and benefits that this Peru-China transpacific economic corridor could bring.

# The substantial content of Peru-China relations

Peru has with China a Comprehensive Strategic Association, an FTA and a memorandum of understanding on the Belt and Road Initiative. Moreover, the country is a prospective member of the AIIB. What is more, Peru is the second destination for Chinese FDI in Latin America (after Brazil), it is China's third most important trading partner in South America (after Brazil and Chile), and it holds the largest community of Chinese diaspora in Latin America. The challenge for Peru is to continue to grow by increasing competitiveness and productivity. Infrastructure is indispensable to make that possible.

# The route to follow

There are three important tasks ahead. First, design the transpacific economic corridor within the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative and identify the role for Peru in that context. Second, evaluate the feasibility of this vision. Third, identify the instruments and measures to achieve it. This effort requires a long-term perspective and the collaboration between government, private sector and academia would be very important.

To enrich the Peruvian strategy, it is important to identify the lessons learned from the 6 years of implementation of the Belt and Road Initiative in other regions. More specifically, examine the construction of economic corridors between China and neighboring countries. China's connection with Southeast Asian countries would be a very interesting case study. In any case, it is important to note that there are key differences in regards to the level debt held by nations involved in the Initiative.

# 3. Goals up to 2050: Could China and Peru converge?

What is China's vision for the country for the next 30 years? And how about Peru's own vision? Can the two countries converge? Can the development that China plans to

achieve be a driver for development in Peru? How to realize it? How to go beyond being only suppliers of raw materials and recipients of investment in extractive industries? This study argues that the transformation of the Chinese economy and the Peruvian participation in the Belt and Road Initiative provide an opportunity to discuss this issue.

#### Two centenary goals in China

The Chinese government has set the so-called two centenary goals. The first of them is to finish building a moderately prosperous society in all respects by 2021, year that marks the 100th anniversary of the CCP. The second and more ambitious goal is to make China a fully developed and advanced nation by 2049, when it is celebrated the 100th anniversary of the foundation of the People's Republic of China.

The set of master plans that guide this process includes the Going Out strategy, Made in China 2025, Five-Year Plans, Belt and Road Initiative, and the long-term vision outlined in recent CCP Congresses. Such plans aim to contribute to China's rise to become the world's leading economy.

# China and Asia-Pacific in the Peruvian strategic planning

The present analysis suggests the need to define more clearly how Peru aims to insert itself into the global economy. This vision should give rise to a multisectoral strategic plan for international economic insertion. It should encompass various sectoral dimensions (and actions) in an integrated manner so as to realize the vision for the country's insertion in the world economy. In this framework, there should be a specific vision for Peru's economic projection towards China and Asia-Pacific, as well as measures to materialize it.

The Vision to 2050 approved by the National Agreement Forum is the starting point for developing a National Strategic Plan to 2050. Alongside this comprehensive plan, the present study proposes to analyze the possibility of designing a Strategic Plan for International Economic Insertion to 2050. In that case, these two schemes should keep close links to create the conditions to adopt a comprehensive and multisectoral approach for the internationalization of the Peruvian economy.

If this is not possible, the alternative recommendation is to formulate a similar plan (also looking ahead to 2050) specifically for the Peruvian projection towards China and Asia-Pacific. As far as China is concerned, the Belt and Road Initiative could be the opportunity to address the design of such a plan.

# 4. The gap with Asia-16: challenges concerning competitiveness and productivity

It is a common practice to compare Peru with the rest of Latin American economies. This study has carried out a comparison with the Asian and Oceanian economies in the Pacific basin, which has put in evidence huge gaps that Peru still has to overcome on the road to its development.

Out of the twelve pillars on which the GCI is based, only in macroeconomic stability does Peru have a top performance, ranking number 1 together with other economies of the group analyzed. In the other eleven pillars, Peru lags far behind the most competitive Asia-16 economy, usually sitting at the penultimate or ultimate position in the comparative rankings presented in this study. Regarding the People's Republic of China, in at least half of the GCI pillars, there are significant gaps between the level of competitiveness attained by the Chinese and that of Peru. Furthermore, although the Peruvian productivity has grown in the past twenty years, it has grown even faster in most Asia-16 economies. Thereafter, the distance between Peru and such economies has become even greater in this key variable. This panorama shows that there are interesting points of reference in Asia-Pacific with which Peru could certainly explore lessons learned that could contribute to its own development process. That becomes particularly more relevant when it is observed how the Peruvian economy lags significantly behind in the comparison with this group. The foregoing could be the basis to renew the Peruvian agenda of cooperation with this region.

# 5. The state of affairs on the international stage: tension between China and the United States

After exploring different analyses on the so-called "trade war" between China and the United States, the conclusion is that what is at stake in the economic plane is the long-term technological global leadership. Thus, this conflict has structural roots that would hardly be solved with a trade deal. Notwithstanding, international relations analysts often characterize the issue as a broad race for global leadership that goes beyond the economic arena.

They also draw attention to the erosion of multilateralism as a consequence of the US behavior in the past few years. In this context, it is essential to strengthen multilateral institutions as spaces for collaboration and conflict resolution, such as the United Nations, WTO, among others. In addition, in the Pacific basin, it is important to strengthen the APEC forum.

Among the recommendations for APEC's future agenda, the reports from PECC (2019) and AVG from (2019) proposed that high priority should be given to structural reforms in member economies in order to increase productivity through open, well-functioning, transparent and competitive markets. Likewise, digital and technological transformation would bear an enormous potential to support growth, promote innovation and facilitate connectivity, in addition to being an important instrument for social inclusion.

These recommendations are particularly relevant for Peru, as suggested by the comparison of the Peruvian economy with respect to Asia-16. The Asia-Pacific Vision to 2040 represents pathway to revitalize the integration and cooperation in this region in order to ensure that it remains the most innovative and dynamic in the world while building a peaceful and interconnected community. The Peruvian engagement with Asia-Pacific and its economic relations with China should be guided by long-term goals targeting emblematic dates such as 2040 and 2050.

#### References

- Abdul, A., Arao, M., Dagli, S., Ferrarini, B., Noy, I., Osewe, P., Pagaduan, J., Park, D., & Platitas, R. (2020). The economic impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on developing Asia. Asian Development Bank Briefs, 128. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/571536/adb-brief-128economic-impact-covid19-developing-asia.pdf
- Acuerdo Nacional & Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico Acuerdo Nacional & CEPLAN (2019). Visión del Perú al 2050. Retrieved from https://www.ceplan.gob.pe/visionperu2050/
- Acuerdo Nacional (2019). *Políticas de Estado del Acuerdo Nacional*. Retrieved from https://www.ceplan.gob.pe/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/35-POL%C3%8DTICAS-DE-ESTADO-actualizado-Feb.2019.pdf
- Adex Data Trade (2020). *Estadística por descripción arancelaria* [Database]. Retrieved from http://www.adexdatatrade.com/
- Adhikari, R., & Yang, Y. (2002). What will WTO membership mean for China and its trading partners?. *Finance & Development*, Sep 2002, *39*(3). Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2002/09/adhikari.htm
- AIIB (2017). AIIB welcomes new prospective members. Beijing, China. Retrieved from https://www.aiib.org/en/news-events/news/2017/AIIB-Welcomes-New-Prospective-Members.html
- Amighini, A. (2016). Beijing's economy: dream a little dream of China? In A. Amighini (Eds.), China dream: still coming true? (pp. 34–48). Edizioni Epoké - ISPI. Retrieved from https://www.ispionline.it/it/pubblicazione/china-dream-still-comingtrue-15412
- Amighini, A. (2017). Towards a new geography of trade?. In A. Amighini (Eds.). China's Belt and Road: a game changer? (pp. 121-139). Milán: Italian Institute for International Political Studies.
- Ang, J. (2009). Household saving behaviour in an extended life cycle model: a comparative study of China and India. *Journal of Development Studies*, 45(8), 1344–1359. doi: 10.1080/00220380902935840
- APEC (2016). Collective strategic study on issues related to the realization of the FTAAP: Appendix 6. 2016 CTI Report to Ministers - November 2016. Singapore: APEC Secretariat.
- Asamblea General de las Naciones Unidas (2015). Resolución aprobada por la Asamblea General el 25 de septiembre de 2015. 70/1. Transformar nuestro mundo: la Agenda 2030 para el Desarrollo Sostenible. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=S
- Asian Development Bank ADB (2017). Asian Economic Integration Report 2017: The era of financial interconnectedness – How can Asia strengthen financial resilience?. Manila: Asian Development Bank.
- Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation APEC (2020). *Key Indicators Database* [Database]. Retrieved from http://statistics.apec.org/index.php/apec\_psu/index\_noflash

- Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Vision Group AVG (2019). Report of the APEC Vision Group, people and prosperity: An APEC Vision to 2040. An Independent Report. Retrieved from https://www.apec.org/Publications/2019/12/Report-of-the--APEC-Vision-Group
- Banco Central de Reserva del Perú BCRP (2020). *Cotizaciones internacionales, promedio del periodo anual* [Database]. Retrieved from https://estadisticas.bcrp.gob.pe/estadisticas/series/anuales/cotizaciones-internacionales-promedio-del-periodo
- Barceló, M. (2010). Conectividad América del Sur con Asia-Pacífico y potencial competitivo de las rutas interoceánicas [Presentation]. Presentado en el Seminario Internacional sobre Integración Física Sudamericana diez años después: impacto e implementación en el Perú". Lima: BID, CEPEI, Universidad del Pacífico.
- Barro, R. (2016). Economic growth and convergence applied to China. *China & World Economy*, 24(5), 5–19. doi: 10.1111/cwe.12172
- Baxter, T., & Zhe, Y. (2019). The 14th Five Year Plan: what ideas are on the Table?. *China Dialogue*. Retrieved from https://www.chinadialogue.net/article/show/single/en/11434-The-14th-Five-Year-Plan-what-ideas-are-on-the-Table-
- Berríos, R. (2003). El Perú y la República Popular de China: otro puente de entrada a Asia. Agenda Internacional, Año IX 18, 146-160.
- Bórquez, A. (2019). The role of non-traditional economic initiatives in Sino-Chilean relations: going forward to new roads of cooperation into the Asia-Pacific Region [Presentation]. Presentado en el APEC Study Centers Consortium Conference en Valparaíso. Retrieved from https://economiayempresa.udp.cl/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/004-BORQUEZ-Non-traditional-Economic-Initiativesbetween-China-Chile-APEC.pdf
- Bown, C. (2019). Five things to look for in any Trump-China deal on subsidies. *PIIE Trade and Investment Policy Watch*. Washington: Peterson Institute for International Economics. Retrieved from https://www.piie.com/blogs/tradeinvestment-policy-watch/five-things-look-any-trump-china-deal-subsidies
- Brooks, D. (2008). Linking Asia's trade, logistics, and infrastructure. *ADBI Working Paper 128.* Tokyo: Asian Development Bank Institute. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/155983/adbi-wp128.pdf
- Bureau of Industry and Security. (2020). *Huawei Entity List and Temporary General License Frequently Asked Questions (Actualizado al 18 de mayo del 2020).* https://www.bis.doc.gov/index.php/documents/pdfs/2447-huawei-entity-listing-faqs
- CAF Banco de Desarrollo de América Latina CAF (July 12, 2019). Chile y CAF liderarán el estudio de factibilidad para la primera puerta digital entre Sudamérica y Asia. Retrieved from https://www.caf.com/es/actualidad/noticias/2019/07/chile-ycaf-lideraran-el-estudio-de-factibilidad-para-la-primera-puerta-digital-entresudamerica-y-asia/
- Cai, P. (2017). *Understanding China's Belt and Road Initiative*. Sydney: Lowy Institute for International Policy.

- Campbell, C. (February 7, 2019). China's aging population is a major threat to its future. *Time*. Retrieved from https://time.com/5523805/china-aging-population-working-age/
- Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico CEPLAN (2017a). *Imagen del Perú al 2030 (versión preliminar)*.119 Sesión Del Foro Del Acuerdo Nacional. Retrieved from https://www.ceplan.gob.pe/blog/ceplan-presento-propuesta-de-imagen-de-pais-al-2030-ante-el-acuerdo-nacional/
- Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico CEPLAN (2017b). Resolución de Presidencia de Consejo Directivo de CEPLAN N° 026-2017/CEPLAN/PCD Aprueban Directiva para la actualización del Plan Estratégico de Desarrollo Nacional.
- China Academy of Information and Communications Technology. (2018). White Paper on China International Optical Cable Interconnection.
- China Policy (2017). China Going Global between ambition and capacity. Beijing: China Policy. Retrieved from https://policycn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2017-Chinas-going-global-strategy.pdf
- Chow, G. (2004). Economic reform and growth in China. *Annals of Economics and Finance*, 5, 127-152. Retrieved from http://www.aeconf.com/Articles/May2004/aef050107.pdf
- Congressional Research Service (2018). *China-US trade issues RL33536*. Washington: CRS.
- Cellular Telecommunications Industry Association CTIA (2020). *The 5G economy*. Washington, Estados Unidos. Retrieved from https://www.ctia.org/the-wireless-industry/the-5g-economy
- Curtis, C., Lugauer, S., & Mark, N. (2011). Demographic patterns and household saving in China. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series, No. 16828.* doi: 10.3386/w16828
- Damgaard, J., Elkjaer, T. & Johannesen, N. (2019). "What Is Real and What Is Not in the Global FDI Network?" *IMF Working Paper* WP/19/274, December 2019.
- Delgado, R. & Martínez, J. (2017). El contexto actual de China ante los escenarios de 2030. *Cuadernos de Trabajo del CECHIMEX*, 2. Retrieved from https://dusselpeters.com/CECHIMEX/Revista\_Cchmx\_2\_2017.pdf
- Deloitte (2018). 5G: The chance to lead for a decade. Washington: Deloitte. Retrieved from https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/technology-media-telecommunications/us-tmt-5g-deployment-imperative.pdf
- Department of Economic Planning and Statistics of Brunei Darussalam (2019). International merchandise trade statistics, December 2019 [Database]. Ministry of Finance and Economy. Retrieved from http://www.deps.gov.bn/DEPD DocumentsLibrary/DOS/IMTS/2019/IMTS\_D ec2019.pdf
- Directorate-General of Budget Accounting and Statistics of Republic of China (2020). Gross Domestic Product by expenditures [Database]. Retrieved from

https://eng.stat.gov.tw/public/data/dgbas03/bs4/StatisticalTables/webdata2008yo y(033).xls

- Dussel, E. (2020). *Monitor de la OFDI China en América Latina y el Caribe 2020*. Ciudad de México: Red ALC-China. Retrieved from https://www.redalc-china.org/monitor/images/pdfs/menuprincipal/DusselPeters\_MonitorOFDI\_2020\_ Esp.pdf
- Erthal, A. & Gonzalez, A. (2018). Trans-Regional cooperation in a multipolar world: how is the Belt and Road Initiative relevant to Latin America?. *LSE Global South Unit Working Paper Series*, N°1/2018. Retrieved from http://www.lse.ac.uk/international-relations/assets/documents/global-south-unit/Working-Paper-No.-1.-2018-Adriana-Abdenur-and-Ariel-Gonz%C3%A1lez.pdf
- Federal Register (21 de mayo de 2019). Addition of Entities to the Entity List A rule by the industry and security bureau. Washington, Estados Unidos. Retrieved from https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/05/21/2019-10616/addition-of-entities-to-the-entity-list
- Feenstra, R., Inklaar, R., & Timmer, M. (2015). The next generation of the Penn World Table. American Economic Review, 105(10), 3150–3182. doi: 10.1257/aer.20130954
- Fondo Monetario Internacional (2019). World Economic Oulook 2019 [Database]. Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2019/02/weodata/index.aspx
- Foro CELAC-China (January 22, 2018). *Declaración Especial de Santiago de la II Reunión Ministerial del Foro CELAC-China sobre la Iniciativa de La Franja y la Ruta*. Santiago. (Obtenido el 24 de enero de 2018 a través de la solicitud de acceso a la información AC001T0001005, Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores de Chile).
- Gonzales, K., Hernando, R., San Andres, E., & Wirjo, A. (2016). *APEC Regional Trends Analysis: rethinking skills development in the digital age.* Singapur: Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Polict Support Unit. Retrieved from https://www.apec.org/Publications/2016/11/APEC-Regional-Trends-Analysis-Rethinking-Skills-Development-in-the-Digital-Age
- GSMA Intelligence (2019). The mobile economy China 2019. Londres: GSM Association. Retrieved from https://www.gsmaintelligence.com/research/?file=4ac41ce0d0e94cd567ed0d192 89a3d7d&download
- Haass, R. (2020). International Relations In The COVID-19 Era: Richard Haass On What Comes After A Pandemic. Retrieved from https://www.wbur.org/onpoint/2020/04/22/international-relations-coronavirusrichard-haass
- Han, Q. (2018). El cambio de la contradicción principal de nuestro país se trata de un cambio histórico que tiene mucho que ver con la situación en su conjunto. *Teoría China*. Retrieved from http://sp.theorychina.org/xsqy\_2477/201803/t20180322\_363913.shtml

- Harari, Y. N. (2020). *The world after coronavirus*. Financial Times. Retrieved from https://www.ft.com/content/19d90308-6858-11ea-a3c9-1fe6fedcca75
- Hawksworth, J., Audino, H., & Clarry, R. (2017). *The long view: how will the global economic order change by 2050?, World in 2050*. Londres: PwC. Retrieved from https://vipproperty.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/pwc-the-world-in-2050-full-report-feb-2017.pdf
- Hidalgo, C. A., y Hausmann, R. (2009). The building blocks of economic complexity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(26), 10570–10575. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900943106
- Hofman, B. (14 de febrero de 2020). Commentary: Why China signed an unequal trade deal with the US. *Channel News Asia*. Retrieved from https://www.channelnewsasia.com/news/commentary/china-us-trade-war-deal-agreement-phase-1-2-tariff-coronavirus-12417824
- Huang, K. (2017). Comentarios presentados en la Conferencia Internacional: Reforma e Internacionalización de las Empresas Chinas y Relaciones con América Latina y el Perú, realizada en la Universidad del Pacífico, organizada por su Centro de Estudios sobre China y Asia-Pacífico, Lima, Perú, 6 de diciembre.
- Institute for Security & Development Policy (2018). *Made in China 2025*. Washington: ISDP.
- International Trade Administration of the United States (2019). Taiwan Import Tariffs https://www.export.gov/apex/article2?id=Taiwan-Import-Tariffs
- International Trade Centre ITC (2020). *TradeMap* [Database]. Retrieved from https://www.trademap.org/Index.aspx?lang=es
- ITC (2020). *TradeMap* [Database]. Retrieved from https://www.trademap.org/Index.aspx?lang=es
- Jenkins, R. (2019). *How China is reshaping the global economy: development impacts in Africa and Latin America.* Nueva York: Oxford University Press.
- Jiang, Z. (November 8, 2002). Texto íntegro del informe presentado por Jiang Zemin. En Congreso Nacional del Partido Comunista de China. Retrieved from https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/topics\_665678/3698\_665962/t18872.shtml
- Jue, W. (2019). The implication of global technological innovation on US-China strategic competition. En M. Schneider-Petsinger, W. Jue, J. Yu & J. Crabtree (Eds.). US-China strategic competition: the quest for global technological leadership. Asia-Pacific Programme and the US and the Americas Programme (pp. 15-27). Londres: Chatham House. Retrieved from https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/publications/research/CHHJ748 0-US-China-Competition-RP-WEB.pdf
- Kissinger, H. (2020). *The Coronavirus Pandemic Will Forever Alter the World Order*. The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved from https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-coronavirus-pandemic-will-forever-alter-the-world-order-11585953005
- Lawrence, R. (2018). Five reasons why the focus on trade deficits is misleading. *PIIE Policy Brief 18-6.* Washington: Peterson Institute for International Economics.

- Leaders' Roundtable of the 2nd Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation (April 27, 2019). Joint Communique of the Leaders' Roundtable of the 2nd Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation. Retrieved from https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/zxxx\_662805/t1658766.shtml
- Leong, C. (2013). Special economic zones and growth in China and India: an empirical investigation. *International Economics and Economic Policy*, *10*, 549-567. doi: 10.1007/s10368-012-0223-6
- Lewis, A. (1954). Economic development with unlimited supplies of labour. *Manchester School of Economic and Social Studies*, *22*, 139–191. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9957.1954.tb00021.x
- Liu, M., Feng, X., Wang, S., & Qiu, H. (2020). China's poverty alleviation over the last 40 years: successes and challenges. *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, *64*(1), 209–228. doi: 10.1111/1467-8489.12353
- McBride, J., & Chatzky, A. (March 8, 2019). The US trade deficit: How much does it matter?. *Council on Foreign Relations Foreign Affairs*. Retrieved from https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/us-trade-deficit-how-much-does-it-matter
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (April 1, 2020a). Acuerdos comerciales. Lima, Perú. Retrieved from http://www.acuerdoscomerciales.gob.pe/
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (April, 20 2020b). *Planes Operativos de Desarrollo de Mercados*. https://www.mincetur.gob.pe/comercio-exterior/plan-estrategico-nacional-exportador/penx-2003-2013/planes-de-mercado
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (April 20, 2020c). Planes de Desarrollo de Mercados. https://www.gob.pe/institucion/mincetur/colecciones/616-plan-de-desarrollo-demercados-de-asia
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (2015). Resolución Ministerial N° 377-2015. Plan Estratégico Nacional Exportador. Retrieved from https://www.mincetur.gob.pe/comercio-exterior/plan-estrategico-nacionalexportador/penx-2025/
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (April 25, 2019a). Perú participa activamente en la Franja y la Ruta de China. *Nota de Prensa MINCETUR*. Retrieved from https://www.gob.pe/institucion/mincetur/noticias/27795-ministro-vasquez-peru-participa-activamente-en-la-franja-y-la-ruta-de-china
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (April 25, 2019b). Memorando de Entendimiento entre el Gobierno de la República del Perú y el Gobierno de la República Popular China sobre Cooperación en el Marco de la Iniciativa de la Franja Económica de la Ruta de la Seda y la Ruta Marítima de la Seda del Siglo XXI.
- Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo MINCETUR (October 6, 2019c). TLC Perú-China: concluye Cuarta Ronda para la optimización del Acuerdo Comercial. *Nota de Prensa MINCETUR*. Retrieved from https://www.gob.pe/institucion/mincetur/noticias/52229-tlc-peru-china-concluyecuarta-ronda-para-la-optimizacion-del-acuerdo-comercial

- Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas MEF (2018). *Política Nacional de Competitividad y Productividad, Decreto Supremo Nº 345-2018-EF.* Retrieved from https://www.mef.gob.pe/contenidos/archivos-descarga/Politica Nacional de Competitividad y Productividad.pdf
- Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas MEF (2019a). *Plan Nacional de Competitividad y Productividad. Decreto Supremo N° 237-2019-EF.* Retrieved from https://www.mef.gob.pe/contenidos/archivos-descarga/PNCP\_2019.pdf
- Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas MEF (2019b). *Plan Nacional de Infraestructura para la Competitividad Decreto Supremo N° 238-2019-EF*. Retrieved from https://www.mef.gob.pe/contenidos/inv\_privada/planes/PNIC\_2019.pdf
- Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MRE (2012). *Plan Estratégico Sectorial de Largo Plazo (PESLP) (2012-2021), Resolución Ministerial N° 0401/RE-2012.* Retrieved from https://transparencia.rree.gob.pe/index.php/2-planeamiento-yorganizacion/22-planes-y-politicas/222-documentos-de-planificacion/2221planes-sectoriale-de-largo-plazo/5375-plan-estrategico-sectorial-de-largo-plazo-2012-2021-version-corregida/file
- Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores MRE (nd). *Plan Sectorial de Largo Plazo 2003-2015*. Retrieved from http://transparencia.rree.gob.pe/index.php/2-planeamientoy-organizacion/22-planes-y-politicas/222-documentos-de-planificacion/2221planes-sectoriale-de-largo-plazo/986-plan-sectorial-de-largo-plazo-2003-2015
- Ministry of Commerce, People's Republic of China MOFCOM (2020). *China FTA Network*. Beijing, China. Retrieved from http://fta.mofcom.gov.cn/english/index.shtml
- National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a). *Annual data* [Database]. Retrieved from http://data.stats.gov.cn/easyquery.htm?cn=C01
- National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019b). *China Statistical Yearbook 2019* [Database]. Retrieved from http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsj/ndsj/2019/indexeh.htm
- National Bureau of Statistics of China. (2020). *Statistical Communiqué of the People's Republic of China on the 2019. National Economic and Social Development.* http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsj/zxfb/202002/t20200228\_1728913.html
- National Development and Reform Commission NDRC (2016). *The 13<sup>th</sup> Five-Year Plan for Economic and Social Development of the People's Republic of China (2016 2020).* Beijing: Compilation and Translation Bureau, Central Committee of Communist Party of China.
- National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, China & Ministry of Commerce, China – NDRC, MFA & MOFCOM (2015). *Vision and actions on jointly building Silk Road Economic Belt and 21<sup>st</sup>-Century Maritime Silk Road. First Edition 2015.* Retrieved from https://eng.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/qwyw/gwfb/1084.htm
- Naughton, B. (1993). Deng Xiaoping: The economist. Special Issue: Deng Xiaoping: An assessment The China Quarterly, 135, 491-514. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/654099

Neuweg, I., & Stern, N. (2019). China's 14th Plan, sustainable development and the new

era. Londres: Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment and the Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy, London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from http://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Chinas-14th-plan-sustainable-development-and-the-new-era.pdf

- Niu, H. (2017). *Belt and Road Initiative: definition, evolution and implications* [Presentation]. Presentado en el Centro de Estudios sobre China y Asia-Pacífico. Lima: Universidad del Pacífico.
- OECD (2011). OCDE Definición Marco de Inversión Extranjera Directa: Cuarta edición. OECD Publishing, Paris, doi: 10.1787/9789264094475-es
- Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative (2017). *Building the Belt and Road: Concept, Practice and China's Contribution.* First edition. Beijing: Foreign Languages Press.
- Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative (2020). *Profiles of the Belt* and Road Portal. Retrieved from https://eng.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/info/iList.jsp?cat\_id=10076
- Office of the State Council the People's Republic of China (September 24, 2018). *The facts and China's position on China-US trade friction*. Beijing: Office of the State Council. Retrieved from https://china.usc.edu/sites/default/files/article/attachments/Chinese%20WP%20Si no-Am%20Trade.pdf
- Office of the State Council the People's Republic of China (November 26, 2019). China mulls over 14th Five-Year Plan. *State Council*. Retrieved from http://english.www.gov.cn/premier/news/201911/26/content\_WS5ddd1626c6d0bc f8c4c17d87.html
- Oficina General del Consejo de Estado República Popular China (March 15, 2006). Mejor implementación de la estrategia "Going-Out". *The Central Government Portal*. Retrieved from http://www.gov.cn/node\_11140/2006-03/15/content\_227686.htm
- Organización Mundial del Comercio OMC (2020). WTO Data Portal [Database]. Retrieved from https://timeseries.wto.org/
- Pacific Economic Cooperation Council PECC (2011). Services trade: approaches for the 21st Century. Singapur: PECC.
- Pacific Economic Cooperation Council PECC (2019). A vision for APEC 2040. Report of the PECC Task Force on APEC beyond 2020. Singapur: PECC. Retrieved from https://www.apec.org/Publications/2019/12/Report-of-the-PECC-Task-Force-on-APEC-Beyond-2020-A-Vision-for-APEC-2040
- Pertuzé, J. (2019). A reflection on changing times: digital transformation [Presentation]. Retrieved from https://www.apec.org/-/media/Files/Groups/AVG/0301\_A Reflection on Changing Times.pdf
- Piketty, T., Yang, L., & Zucman, G. (2019). Capital accumulation, private property, and rising inequality in China, 1978–2015. *American Economic Review*, 109(7), 2469– 2496. doi: 10.1257/aer.20170973

- Ravallion, M. (2011). A comparative perspective on poverty reduction in Brazil, China, and India. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 26(1), 71–104. doi: 10.1093/wbro/lkp031
- Ravallion, M., & Chen, S. (2007). China's (uneven) progress against poverty. *Journal of Development Economics*, 82(1), 1-42. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2005.07.003
- Santa Gadea, R. (December 11, 2019b). Peru well positioned to be an international trade hub. China Daily Global. Retrieved from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/11/WS5df05070a310cf3e3557d5e2.html
- Santa Gadea, R. (May 13, 2019c). The Chinese Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) and Peru: Strategic Vision from the Perspective of South American Physical Integration and Competitive Insertion in Asia-Pacifico. *APEC Study Centers Consortium Conference*: Valparaiso, Chile. https://economiayempresa.udp.cl/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/003SantaGadeappt.pdf
- Santa Gadea, R. (2018a). The Belt and Road Initiative and Peru: strategic vision from the perspective of South American physical integration and competitive insertion in Asia-Pacific. *ILAS-CASS Journal for Latin American Studies*, *4*. Retrieved from http://oversea.cnki.net/kns55/oldNavi/n\_Catalog.aspx?NaviID=48&Flg=local&Yea rID=LDMZ201804&BaseID=LDMZ&Field=拼音刊名\*年\*期&Value=LDMZ\*2018\*04
- Santa Gadea, R. (2018b). The Belt and Road Initiative and Peru: strategic vision from the perspective of South American physical integration and competitive insertion in Asia-Pacific. En G. Cunhai (Eds.). *The Belt and Road Initiative and Latin America: new opportunities and new challenges* (pp. 222–255). Beijing: Blossom Press.
- Santa Gadea, R. (2018c). La Franja y la Ruta y el Perú: visión estratégica desde la perspectiva de la integración física sudamericana y la inserción competitiva en Asia-Pacífico. En G. Cunhai & C. Mera (Eds.). La Franja y la Ruta y América Latina: Nuevas Oportunidades y Nuevos Desafíos (pp. 403–457). Beijing: China Intercontinental Press y CECLA.
- Santa Gadea, R. (2018d). Understanding the Chinese Belt and Road Initiative: renewing China-Latin America's economic cooperation?. *ReVista: Harvard Review of Latin America*. Retrieved from https://revista.drclas.harvard.edu/book/understandingchinese-belt-and-road-initiative
- Santa Gadea, R. (2019a). La Iniciativa China de La Franja y la Ruta y el Perú. Suplemento Especial 70 Aniversario de la Fundación de La República Popular China - El Peruano, pp.14–15.
- Santa Gadea, R. (2020) China y Asia-Pacífico en la Globalización: Tendencias y Oportunidades para el Perú. *Documentos de Trabajo del Centro de Estudios sobre China y Asia-Pacífico de la Universidad del Pacífico* Nº 1. (Por publicarse) https://www.up.edu.pe/investigacion-centros/centros-up/centro-estudios-chinaasia-pacifico/publicaciones/Paginas/default.aspx
- Schnabl, G. (2019). China's overinvestment and international trade conflicts. *China & World Economy*, 27(5), 37–62. doi: 10.1111/cwe.12293
- Schneider-Petsinger, M. (2019). Behind the US-China trade war: the race for global technological leadership. En M. Schneider-Petsinger, W. Jue, J. Yu & J. Crabtree

(Eds.). US-China strategic competition: the quest for global technological leadership. Asia-Pacific Programme and the US and the Americas Programme (pp. 4-14). Londres: Chatham House. Retrieved from https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/publications/research/CHHJ748 0-US-China-Competition-RP-WEB.pdf

- Schwab, K. (2019). Global Competitiveness Report 2019 Insight Report. Ginebra: World Economic Forum. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2019.pdf
- Shen, J., Chen, C., Yang, M., & Zhang, K. (2019). City size, population concentration and productivity: evidence from China. *China & World Economy*, 27(1), 110–131. doi: 10.1111/cwe.12270
- Solow, R. (1956). A contribution to the theory of economic growth. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *70*(1), 65–94. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1884513
- State Council Guo Fa (8 de mayo de 2015). Notice on Issuing "Made in China 2025". State Council, 28.
- Statistics Division of the Department of Economic Affairs of the United Nations (2020). UN Comtrade Database [Database]. Retrieved from https://comtrade.un.org/data
- Stoltenberg, C. (1984). China's special economic zones: their development and prospects. Asian Survey, 24(6), 637-654. doi: 10.2307/2644396
- Subsecretaría de Telecomunicación del Ministerio de Transportes y Telecomunicaciones de Chile - SUBTEL-MTT Chile. (2019a). Gobierno publica bases de licitación para estudio de factibilidad de cable submarino Asia-Sudamérica. https://www.subtel.gob.cl/gobierno-publica-bases-de-licitacion-paraestudio-de-factibilidad-de-cable-submarino-asia-sudamerica/
- SUBTEL-MTT Chile. (2019b). *MTT adjudica elaboración del Estudio de Factibilidad del Cable Submarino Asia-Sudamérica*. https://www.subtel.gob.cl/mtt-adjudica-elaboracion-del-estudio-de-factibilidad-del-cable-submarino-asia-sudamerica/
- SUBTEL-MTT Chile. (2019c). SUBTEL recibe ocho propuestas para la elaboración del estudio de factibilidad del cable submarino Asia-Sudamérica. https://www.subtel.gob.cl/subtel-recibe-ocho-propuestas-para-la-elaboracion-delestudio-de-factibilidad-del-cable-submarino-asia-sudamerica/
- SUBTEL-MTT Chile. (2020). Gobierno de Chile escoge ruta mediante Nueva Zelanda y hasta Australia para implementar el Cable Transoceánico. https://www.subtel.gob.cl/gobierno-de-chile-escoge-ruta-mediante-nueva-zelanday-hasta-australia-para-implementar-el-cable-transoceanico/
- Tao, F. (2019). Business perspective: Belt and Road Initiative and Peru [Presentation]. Presentado en la Conferencia Internacional La Iniciativa China de "La Franja y la Ruta" y el Perú: alcances, oportunidades y desafíos. Centro de Estudios sobre China y Asia-Pacífico de la Universidad del Pacífico, Asociación de Empresas Chinas en el Perú y ICBC Bank en el Perú. Lima.

Telegeography (2019). Submarine cable Map. Retrieved from https://github.com/telegeography/www.submarinecablemap.com

The Conference Board (2019). The Conference Board Total Economy Database

[Database]. Retrieved from https://www.conferenceboard.org/data/economydatabase/index.cfm?id=27762

- Todaro, M. (1969). A model of labor migration and urban unemployment in less developed countries. *The American Economic Review*, *59*(1), 138–148. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1811100
- Toscano, E. (December 25, 2019). La inversión china en el Perú alcanzó los US\$ 30,000 mllns. *El Peruano*. Retrieved from https://elperuano.pe/noticia-la-inversion-china-el-peru-alcanzo-30000-mllns-87930.aspx
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development UNCTAD (2019). *World Investment Report 2019: special economic zones*. Nueva York: United Nations.
- UNCTAD (2020a). UnctadStat [Database]. Retrieved from https://unctadstat.unctad.org/wds/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=96740
- UNCTAD (2020b). Investment trends monitor January 2020: *Global FDI flows flat in 2019, moderate increase expected in 2020.* New York: United Nations.
- United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific United Nations ESCAP (2020). Asia-Pacific trade and investment trends 2019/2020 trade in commercial services outlook. Bangkok: United Nations.
- United States Department of the Treasury (August 5, 2019). Treasury designates China as a currency manipulator. *United States Department of the Treasury*. Retrieved from https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm751
- United States Trade Representative USTR (2018). *Findings of the investigation into China's acts, policies, and practices related to technology transfer, intellectual property, and innovation under Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974.* Washington: USTR. Retrieved from https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/Section%20301%20FINAL.PDF
- USTR (November 13, 2019). United States and China reach Phase One Trade Agreement. USTR. Retrieved from https://ustr.gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/press-releases/2019/december/united-states-and-china-reach
- Wagner, A. (2020) Comentarios a la investigación *China y Asia-Pacífico en la Globalización: Tendencias y Oportunidades para el Perú*. Conferencia "Proyecto Bicentenario del Perú: Contribuciones para su Desarrollo", organizada por el CIUP. Disponible en: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=i3bQXpOhrDY
- Wakasugi, R., & Zhang, H. (2016). Impacts of the World Trade Organization on Chinese exports. *Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies*, *14*(4), 347-364. doi: 10.1080/14765284.2016.1178520
- Wan, G., Wang, C., Yin, H., & Zhang, Y. (2018). From equality of deprivation to disparity of prosperity: the poverty-growth-inequality triangle in post-reform China. *China & World Economy*, 26(2), 50–67. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/cwe.12236
- Wang, H. (July 25, 2019). In 2020, Asian economies will become larger than the rest of the world combined - here's how. World Economic Forum. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/07/the-dawn-of-the-asian-century/
- Wei, Z., & Kwan, F. (2018). Revisit China's Lewis turning point: an analysis from a

regional perspective. Asian Economic Journal, 32(4), 333–357. doi: 10.1111/asej.12162

- Werner, A. (March 19, 2020). Covid-19 pandemic and Latin America and the Caribbean: time for strong policy actions. *IMF Blog*. Retrieved from https://blogs.imf.org/2020/03/19/covid-19-pandemic-and-latin-america-and-thecaribbean-time-for-strong-policy-actions/
- White House Office of Trade and Manufacturing Policy (2018). *How China's economic aggression threatens the technologies and intellectual property of the United States and the World.* Washington: White Hose Office of Trade and Manufacturing Policy. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/FINAL-China-Technology-Report-6.18.18-PDF.pdf
- Wong, D. & Chipman, A. (2020). The US-China trade war: a timeline. *China Briefing*. Retrieved from https://www.china-briefing.com/news/the-us-china-trade-war-atimeline/
- Wong, G., Booker, S., & Barthe-Dejean, G. (2017). *China and the Belt and Road Infrastructure 2016 review and future outlook*. Retrieved from https://www.pwccn.com/zh/services/consulting/br-watch-infrastructure.html
- World Bank (2018). The Logistics Performance Index and its indicators 2018. Connecting to compete: trade logistics in the global economy. Washington: World Bank. Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/576061531492034646/pdf/128355-WP-P164390-PUBLIC-LPIfullreportwithcover.pdf
- World Bank (2020a). *PovcalNet: the on-line tool for poverty measurement developed by the Development Research Group of the World Bank* [Database]. Retrieved from http://iresearch.worldbank.org/PovcalNet/povDuplicateWB.aspx
- World Bank (2020b). *World Development Indicators* [Database]. Retrieved from http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-developmentindicators
- World Bank, Institute of Developing Economies-Japan External Trade Organization, Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, University of International Business and Economics & World Trade Organization – World Bank, IDE-JETRO, OECD, UIBE & WTO (2017). *Measuring and analyzing the impact of GVCs on economic development. Global Value Chain Development Report 2017.* Washington: World Bank Group.
- World Economic Forum (2018). World Economic Forum Insight Report Future of consumption in fast-growth consumer markets: China. Ginebra: World Economic Forum. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Future\_of\_Consumption\_in\_Fast\_Growth\_ Consumer\_Markets\_China.pdf
- World Integrated Trade Solution WITS (2020). *WITS Trade Stats* [Database]. Retrieved from https://wits.worldbank.org/default.aspx?lang=es
- World Intellectual Property Organization WIPO (2008). Outline of the National Intellectual Property Strategy. Ginebra: WIPO
- World Intellectual Property Organization WIPO (2020). WIPO IP Statistics Data Center

[Database]. Retrieved from https://www3.wipo.int/ipstats/index.htm?tab=patent

- World Trade Organization, United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development – WTO, United Nations ESCAP & OECD (2011). *Asia-Pacific case stories: a snapshot of aid for trade on the ground*. Ginebra: WTO.
- Wu, D., Hoenig, H., & Dormido, H. (June 19, 2019). Who's winning the tech cold war? A China vs US scoreboard. *Bloomberg*. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2019-us-china-who-is-winning-the-techwar/
- Xi, J. (2017a). Jointly shoulder responsibility of our times, promote global growth. En Openning Session of the World Economic Forum Annual Meeting 2017. Davos, Suiza. Retrieved from http://www.china.org.cn/node\_7247529/content\_40569136.htm
- Xi, J. (November 3, 2017b). Full text of Xi Jinping's report at 19th CPC National Congress. Retrieved from http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/special/2017-11/03/c\_136725942.htm
- Xiao, G. (2004). People's Republic of China's Round-Tripping FDI: Scale, Causes and Implications. ADBI Discussion Paper 7. Tokyo: Asian Development Bank Institute. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/156758/adbidp7.pdf
- Xu, D. (1981). China's special economic zones. *Beijing Review*, *50*. Retrieved from http://www.bjreview.com/Special\_Reports/2018/40th\_Anniversary\_of\_Reform\_an d\_Opening\_up/Now\_and\_Then/Shenzhen/201806/t20180622\_800133463.html
- Xu, X. (2012). Rethinking the China-US balance of trade: 1990-2005. *iBusiness*, *4*(1), 43-50. doi: 10.4236/ib.2012.41006
- Yao, R., Wang, F., Weagley, R. O., & Liao, L. (2011). Household Saving Motives: Comparing American and Chinese Consumers. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 40(1), 28–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-3934.2011.02086.x
- Yeo, Y. (2018). China's policy of "Going Out" 2.0: ideas, interests, and the rise of the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB). *The Korean Journal of International Studies*, 16(3), 367-387. doi: 10.14731/kjis.2018.12.16.3.367
- Yu, J. (2019). A power shift in international technology standard-setting. En M. Schneider-Petsinger, W. Jue, J. Yu & J. Crabtree (Eds.). US-China strategic competition: the quest for global technological leadership. Asia-Pacific Programme and the US and the Americas Programme (pp. 28-33). Londres: Chatham House. Retrieved https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/publications/research/CHHJ748 0-US-China-Competition-RP-WEB.pdf
- Yuan, T. (2014). On China's trade surplus. Nueva York: Springer.
- Yuan, Y., Guo, H., Xu, H., Li, W., Luo, S., Lin, H. & Yuan, Y. (2010). China's first special economic zone: The case of Shenzhen. En Z. Zeng (Eds.). Building engines for growth and competitiveness in China: Experience with special economic zones and industrial clusters (pp. 55-86). Washington: World Bank.

- Zhang, J. (2017). La visión de China para los próximos 30 años. *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://es.weforum.org/agenda/2017/11/la-vision-de-china-paralos-proximos-30-anos/
- Zhang, J. (2018). China's price liberalisation and market reform: a historical perspective. En R. Garnaut, L. Song, & C. Fang (Eds.). *China's 40 years of reform and development: 1978–2018* (pp. 215-234). Canberra: ANU Press. doi: 10.22459/CYRD.07.2018
- Zhang, J. (2019). Keynote speech understanding China: four decades of fast economic growth and future transformations. *Conference Documents of the Center for China and Asia-Pacific Studies at Unviversidad Del Pacífico*, *1*, 22.
- Zhao, J., & Tang, J. (2015). Industrial structural change and economic growth in China, 1987-2008. *China & World Economy*, 23(2), 1–21. doi: 10.1111/cwe.12104
- Zhu, Z. (2018). Going Global 2.0: China's growing investment in the west and its impact. *Asian Perspective*, *4*2, 159–182. doi: 10.1353/apr.2018.0007

# Acronyms

ADB	Asian Development Bank
AIIB	Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank
APEC	Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
AVG	APEC Vision Group
BCRP	Banco Central de Reserva del Perú / Central Reserve Bank of Peru
CAF	CAF, Banco de Desarrollo de América Latina / CAF – Development Bank of Latin America
CCP	Chinese Communist Party
CELAC	Comunidad de Estados Latinoamericanos y Caribeños / Community of Latin American and Caribbean States
CEPLAN	Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico / National Center for Strategic Planning of Peru
CHINALCO	Aluminium Corporation of China
CIUP	Centro de Investigación de la Universidad del Pacífico / Research Center of the Universidad del Pacífico
CNPC	China Petroleum Corporation
СРТРР	Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership
CTIA	Cellular Telecommunications Industry Association
ESCAP	Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
EU	European Union
EXIMBANK	Export-Import Bank of China
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
FTA	Free Trade Agreements
FTAAP	Free Trade Area of Asia Pacific
GCI	Global Competitiveness Index
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
ICT	Information and Communications Technology
IFDI	Inward Foreign Direct Investment
	International Trade Centre
	Latin America and the Caribbean
	Latin America and the Cambbean Market Development Plane
IVIDE	Ministerio de Economía y Einanzas – Porú / Ministry of Economy and
MEF	Finance
MFA	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China
MINCETUR	Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo – Perú / Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism of Peru
MOFCOM	Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China
MRE	Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores – Perú / Ministry of Foreign Affairsof Peru
NDRC	National Development and Reform Commission - China
OECD	Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development
OFDI	Outward Foreign Direct Investment
OPM	Operational Plans for Market Development
PECC	Pacific Economic Cooperation Council
PENX	Plan Estratégico Nacional Exportador / National Strategic Exports Plan
PO	Priority Objective

PPP	Purchasing Power Parity
R&D	Research and Developmennt
RCEP	Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership
SCMP	South China Morning Post
SDGs	Sustainnable Development Goals
SEZ	Special Economic Zone
SINAPLAN	Sistema Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico / National System for Strategic Planning of Peru
SINOPEC	China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation
SUBTEL-MTT	Subsecretaría de Telecomunicación del Ministerio de Transportes y Telecomunicaciones de Chile / Subsecretariat of Telecommunications, Ministry of Transportation and Telecommunications of Chile
TFP	Total Factor Productivity
TPP	Trans-Pacific Partnership
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
USTR	United States Trade Representative
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organization
WITS	World Integrated Trade Solutions
WTO	World Trade Organization

# **Annex 1: Figures**

Figure 1 GDP growth in China and the world and China's share of the world GDP 1960-2018 (in % and in constant 2010 dollars)



Source: World Bank (2020b). Compiled for this study.

Figure 2 Percentage distribution of China's GDP from the expenditure perspective: consumption and investment 1952-2018 (in current yuan)



Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a). Compiled for this study.



Figure 3 GDP per capita and average productivity per worker 1961-2018 (in %)

Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a) and World Bank (2020b). Compiled for this study.

1.05 1 0.95 0.9 0.85 0.8 0.75 0.7 0.65 0.6 0.55 0.5 1976 1978 1982 1982 1984 1986 1992 1994 1996 1996 1996 1998 2002 2002 2002 2006 2006 2008 2012 2016 2016 2016 1956 1958 1960 I 974 962 996 1968 1970 I 972 964

Figure 4 Evolution of TFP in China in constant national prices 1956-2017 (2011 = 1)

Source: Feenstra et al. (2015). Compiled for this study.

Figure 5 Percentage composition of China's GDP in current yuan by sector 1952-2018 (in %)



Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a). Compiled for this study.



Figure 6 Urban-rural distribution of the total population in China 1952-2018 (in %)

Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a). Compiled for this study.

Figure 7 Percentage evolution of employment by sector 1952-2018



Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China (2019a). Compiled for this study.



Figure 8 Evolution of poverty and extreme poverty in China 1981-2015 (in %)

Note: Estimates for the period 1981-2015 based on the data from the World Bank corresponding to: 1981, 1984, 1987, 1990, 1993, 1996, 1999, 2002, 2005, 2008 and 2010 to 2015. The poverty line is defined at US\$ 3.20 per day and extreme poverty line of US\$ 1.90 per day (both in constant 2011 dollars in PPP).

Source: World Bank (2020a). Compiled for this study.


Figure 9 Shares of China, the European Union, and the United States in world exports 2001-2018 (in %)

Source: World Integrated Trade Solution - WITS (2020). Compiled for this study.



Figure 10 Flows of IFDI and OFDI to and from China 1990-2018 (in billions of US\$)

Source: UNCTAD (2020a). Compiled for this study.

Figure 11 Evolution of the US trade deficit with China and its share of the total deficit 2001-2018 (in billions of US\$ and %)



Note: The axis on the left represents the trade deficit, while the axis on the right is the share of the total deficit. Source: International Trade Centre – ITC (2020). Compiled for this study.



Figure 12 Number of patents granted by China and the USA in high-tech sectors 2010-2018

Source: WIPO (2020). Compiled for this study.

Figure 13 Percentage of population using the internet in China 2000-2017



Source: World Bank (2020b). Compiled for this study.



Figure 14 Connections in China by technology generation 2017-2025 (% of total connections)

Source: Extracted from GSMA Intelligence (2019)



Figure 15 Share of regions in the world GDP 1980-2019 (in %)

Source: International Monetary Fund (2019). Compiled for this study.



Figure 16 Average economic growth rates by regions of the world 2000-2019 (in %)

Note: Based on GDP at current prices in purchasing power parity (PPP) Source: International Monetary Fund (2019). Compiled for this study.



Figure 17 Share of regions in world exports 2001-2018 (in %)

Note: North America is composed of the USA and Canada. Mexico is included in LAC. Source: International Trade Centre – ITC (2020). Compiled for this study.



Figure 18 Share of region in world manufacturing exports in 2001 and 2018 (in %)

Note: North America is composed of the USA and Canada. Mexico is included in LAC. Source: World Trade Organization – WTO (2020). Compiled for this study.

40% 34.2% 35% 31.5% 31.5% 30.1% 30% 25% 21.6% 21.4% 21.1% 18.1% \_\_\_\_16.4% 20% 16.9% 16.3% 5.8% 15% 10% 5% 2.8% 3.0% 3.0% 2.7% 0% 2005 2010 2015 2018 ■Asia-16 ■North America ■Latin America and the Caribbean ■Euro Zone

Figure 19 Share of regions in world trade in services in 2005, 2010, 2015 and 2018 (in %)

Note: North America is composed of the USA and Canada. Mexico is included in LAC. Source: World Trade Organization – WTO (2020). Compiled for this study.



Figure 20 IFDI and OFDI stocks to and from Asia-16 economies (in billions of US\$)

Source: UNCTAD (2020). Compiled for this study.

Figure 21 Peruvian exports to selected regions and countries 2000-2019 (in millions of US\$)



Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.



Figure 22

Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

80% 70% 60% 50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 0% 2006 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2015 2016 2018 2019 2003 2005 2014 2017 2000 2002 2007 2004 2001 Asia-16 Latin America European Union \_\_\_\_ United States China

Figure 23 Share of non-traditional Peruvian exports in trade with its main trading partners 2000-2019 (in %)

Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Figure 24 Comparison between Peru, People's Republic of China, and the most competitive economy in Asia-16 by pillars of the Global Competitiveness Index 2019



Note: Peru is compared with a benchmark in Asia-16, that is, the economy that reaches the highest competitiveness score in this region in the corresponding pillar and, therefore, is considered as a reference for Peru. The competitiveness index scores range from 1 to 100, the closer an economy is to 100, the more competitive it is in a given pillar. For the sake of the comparison, the graph features the scores and names of the Asian-16 benchmark, Peru and the People's Republic of China in each pillar of the index. Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

Figure 25 Trade openness index in Asia-16 economies and Peru in 2018 (trade as a % of GDP)



Note: The sum of exports and imports in goods and services is calculated as a percentage of GDP.

Source: World Bank (2020). In the case of Chinese Taipei, a source from this economy was used, Directorate-General of Budget Accounting and Statistics (2020), and the data for Papua New Guinea was retrieved from APEC (2020). Compiled for this study.

Figure 26 Average tariff in Asia-16 economies and Peru in 2018 (in %)



Note: The data displayed for New Zealand; Malaysia and Thailand are from 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Source: World Bank (2020) and International Trade Administration of the United States (2019). Compiled for this study.

### Annex 2: Tables

Table 1
Labor productivity: average annual growth in Asia-16 economies of and Peru
1990-2018 (in %)

Economy	Average annual growth rate (1990-2018)
P.R. China	8.52
Vietnam	4.62
Thailand	3.31
Republic of Korea	3.30
Chinese Taipei	3.27
Papua New Guinea	3.10
Indonesia	3.01
Malaysia	2.59
Hong Kong, China	2.32
Singapore	2.21
Philippines	2.12
Peru	1.91
Australia	1.31
New Zealand	0.92
Russia	0.84
Japan	0.73
Brunei Darussalam	-1.13

Source: The Conference Board (2019) and World Bank (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 2
Top 10 destinations of FDI (stock) in 1980, 2000 and 2018 (in billions of US\$

Economies	Stock 1980	Position 1980	Stock 2000	Position 2000	Stock 2018	Position 2018
United States	83.0	2	2,783.2	1	7,464.7	1
Hong Kong, China	177.8	1	435.4	4	1,997.2	2
United Kingdom	63.0	3	439.5	3	1,890.4	3
Netherlands	24.3	9	243.7	6	1,673.8	4
P.R. China	1.1	46	193.3	8	1,627.7	5
Singapore	5.4	17	110.6	15	1,481.0	6
Switzerland - Liechtenstein	N/A	-	101.6	16	1,062.8	7
Germany	N/A	-	470.9	2	939.0	8
Ireland	35.4	6	127.1	11	909.5	9
Canada	54.2	4	325.0	5	894.0	10

Source: UNCTAD (2020a). Compiled for this study.

	Table 3	
Top 10 sources of FDI (stock) in	າ 1981, 2000 and 2018 (in billions of US	\$\$)

Economies	Stock 1981	Position 1981	Stock 2000	Position 2000	Stock 2018	Position 2018
United States	228.3	1	2,694.0	1	6,474.7	1
Netherlands	48.6	3	305.5	7	2,427.3	2
P.R. China	0.0	46	27.8	22	1,938.9	3
Hong Kong, China	0.2	33	379.3	5	1,870.1	4
United Kingdom	85.7	2	940.2	2	1,696.5	5
Japan	24.5	8	278.4	8	1,665.2	6
Germany	N/A	-	483.9	3	1,645.4	7
France	29.5	7	365.9	6	1,507.8	8
Canada	30.1	6	442.6	4	1,325.0	9
Switzerland - Liechtenstein	N/A	-	232.2	9	1,263.4	10

Source: UNCTAD (2020a). Compiled for this study.

#### Table 4

Economic corridors and other projects that catalyze and support connectivity within the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative

No.	Economic corridors and other projects
1	Addis Ababa-Djibouti economic corridor, including the development of industrial parks along the economic corridor
2	Agua Negra Pass International Tunnel
3	Baku-Tbilisi-Kars new railway line and Alyat free economic zone in Baku
4	Brunei-Guangxi economic corridor
5	China-Central Asia-West Asia economic corridor
6	China-Europe Land-Sea Express Line
7	China-Indochina Peninsula economic corridor, including Laos-China economic corridor
8	China-Kyrgyzstan-Uzbekistan International Highway
9	China-Laos-Thailand Railway Cooperation
10	China-Malaysia Qinzhou Industrial Park
11	China-Mongolia-Russia economic corridor
12	China-Myanmar economic corridor
13	China-Pakistan economic corridor
14	Eastern Economic Corridor in Thailand
15	Economic corridor in Greater Mekong Subregion
16	The EU Trans-European Transportation Networks
17	Europe-Caucasus-Asia International Transportation corridor and Trans Caspian International Transportation Route
18	The Industrial Park "Great Stone"
19	International North-South Transportation Corridor (INSTC)

No.	Economic corridors and other projects					
20	The Lake Victoria-Mediterranean Sea Navigation Line-Linkage Project (VICMED)					
21	The Lamu Port-South Sudan-Ethiopia Transportation corridor					
22	Malaysia-China Kuantan Industrial Park					
23	The Nepal-China Trans-Himalayan Multi-dimensional Connectivity Network, including Nepal-China cross-border railway					
24	New Eurasian Land Bridge					
25	The New International Land-Sea Trade Corridor of the China- Singapore (Chongqing) Demonstration Initiative on Strategic Connectivity					
26	Northern Corridor Trade Route in Africa linking the maritime port of Mombasa to countries of the Great Lakes region of Africa and Trans- Africa Highway					
27	North-South Passage Cairo-Capetown Pass-way					
28	The Port of Piraeus					
29	Port Sudan-Ethiopia Railway Connectivity					
30	Regional Comprehensive economic corridors in Indonesia					
31	The Suez Canal Economic Zone					
32	Transcontinental shipment of cargo using the capacities of the Northern Sea Route					
33	Transoceanic fiber optic cable					
34	"Two Corridors and One Belt" Framework					
35	Uzbekistan-Tajikistan-China International Highway					

Source: Leaders' Roundtable of the 2nd Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation (2019).

#### Table 5 Countries that have signed cooperation agreements in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative (by continents)

Europe		As	ia	Oceania	Afr	ica	America
Albania	Poland	Afghanistan	Oman	Cook Island	Algeria	Mali	Antigua and Barbuda
Armenia	Portugal	Bahrain	Pakistan	Fiji	Angola	Mauritania	Barbados
Austria	Romania	Bangladesh	Palestine	Kiribati	Benin	Morocco	Bolivia
Azerbaijan	Russia	Bhutan	Philippines	Micronesia	Burundi	Mozambique	Chile
Belarus	Serbia	Brunei	Qatar	New Zealand	Cameroon	Namibia	Costa Rica
Bosnia and Herzegovina	Slovakia	Cambodia	Republic of Korea	Niue	Cape Verde	Niger	Cuba
Bulgaria	Slovenia	East Timor	Saudi Arabia	Papua New Guinea	Chad	Nigeria	Dominica
Croatia	Turkey	Indonesia	Singapore	Samoa	Comoros	Republic of Congo	Dominican Republic
Cyprus	Ukraine	Iran	Sri Lanka	Solomon Islands	Djibouti	Rwanda	Ecuador
Czech Republic		Iraq	Syria	Tonga	Egypt	Senegal	El Salvador
Estonia		Israel	Tajikistan	Vanuatu	Equatorial Guinea	Seychelles	Grenada
Georgia		Jordan	Thailand		Ethiopia	Sierra Leone	Guyana
Greece		Kazakhstan	Turkmenistan		Gabon	Somalia	Jamaica
Hungary		Kuwait	United Arab Emirates		Gambia	South Africa	Panama
Italy		Kyrgyzstan	Uzbekistan		Ghana	South Sudan	Peru
Latvia		Laos	Vietnam		Guinea	Sudan	Suriname
Lithuania		Lebanon	Yemen		Ivory Coast	Tanzania	Trinidad and Tobago
Luxembourg		Malaysia			Kenya	Togo	Uruguay
Macedonia		Maldives			Lesotho	Tunisia	Venezuela
Malta		Mongolia			Liberia	Uganda	
Moldova		Myanmar			Libya	Zambia	
Montenegro		Nepal			Madagascar	Zimbabwe	
Total: 31		Tota	1: 39	Total: 11	Tota	I: 44	Total: 19

Note: Alphabetical order. Consulted on October 20, 2020. Source: Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative (2020). Compiled for this study.

Countries	Total trade	Share (%)
Brazil	98.9	46.8
Chile	42.8	20.3
Peru	23.3	11.0
Argentina	16.3	7.7
Colombia	14.6	6.9
Ecuador	5.8	2.8
Paraguay	3.8	1.8
Uruguay	3.2	1.5
Bolivia	2.5	1.2
Total	211.3	100

Table 6South America – China trade by country in 2018 (in billions of US\$ and in %)

Note: No data available for Venezuela.

Source: Statistics Division of the Department of Economic Affairs of the United Nations – UN Comtrade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Economy	2001	Share (2001)	2018	Share (2018)	Multiplication
P.R. China	266.1	15.7%	2,494.2	36.2%	9.4
Japan	403.3	23.8%	738.2	10.7%	1.8
Rep. of Korea	150.4	8.9%	605.2	8.8%	4.0
Hong Kong, China	191.1	11.3%	569.1	8.3%	3.0
Russia	99.9	5.9%	449.3	6.5%	4.5
Singapore	121.8	7.2%	411.7	6.0%	3.4
Chinese Taipei	122.9	7.3%	335.8	4.9%	2.7
Australia	63.3	3.7%	253.8	3.7%	4.0
Thailand	64.9	3.8%	249.8	3.6%	3.8
Malaysia	88.0	5.2%	247.3	3.6%	2.8
Vietnam	15.0	0.9%	243.0	3.5%	16.2
Indonesia	56.3	3.3%	180.2	2.6%	3.2
Philippines	32.2	1.9%	67.5	1.0%	2.1
New Zealand	13.7	0.8%	39.8	0.6%	2.9
Brunei Darussalam	3.5	0.2%	6.5	0.1%	1.9
Papua New Guinea	1.8	0.1%	-	-	_
Asia-16 total	1,694.2	100.0%	6.891.5	100.0%	4.1

Table 7 Asia-Pacific exports to the world in 2001 and 2018 (in billions of US\$)

Note: No data available for Papua New Guinea in 2018.

Source: International Trade Centre – ITC (2020). Compiled for this study.

## Table 8Asia-Pacific trade within the region and with the world in 2001 and 2018<br/>(in billions of US\$ and in %)

	2001	2018
Trade within Asia-16	1,657.3	7,283.9
Asia-16 trade with the world	3,193.2	13,116.5
Share of intraregional trade	51.9%	55.5%

Source: International Trade Centre – ITC (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 9Share and average growth rate of Peruvian exports to selected regions and countries2000-2019 (in millions of US\$ and in %)

Economy / Region	2000	Share (2000)	2019	Share (2019)	Average growth rate
Asia-16	1,263	18.4%	19,199	41.6%	15.4%
P.R. China	443	6.4%	13,546	29.4%	19.7%
European Union	928	13.5%	5,709	12.4%	10.0%
Latin America and the Caribbean	1,142	16.6%	6,474	14.0%	9.6%
United States	1,902	27.7%	5,690	12.3%	5.9%
Others	1,631	23.8%	9,037	19.6%	9.4%
World	6,866	100.0%	46,109	100.0%	10.5%

Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

No.	Economy	2000	Share (2000)	2019	Share (2019)	Growth rate
1	P.R. China	443	35.1%	13,546	70.6%	20%
2	Rep. of Korea	138	10.9%	2,277	11.9%	16%
3	Japan	325	25.8%	1,975	10.3%	10%
4	Russia	19	1.5%	211	1.1%	14%
5	Philippines	39	3.1%	211	1.1%	9%
6	Chinese Taipei	97	7.6%	202	1.0%	4%
7	Thailand	75	5.9%	192	1.0%	5%
8	Hong Kong, China	21	1.7%	149	0.8%	11%
9	Vietnam	4	0.3%	141	0.7%	20%
10	Malaysia	22	1.8%	102	0.5%	8%
11	Australia	40	3.1%	92	0.5%	5%
12	Indonesia	34	2.7%	60	0.3%	3%
13	New Zealand	2	0.2%	27	0.1%	15%
14	Singapore	4	0.3%	15	0.1%	8%
15	Brunei Darussalam	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	-11%
16	Papua New Guinea	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	-100%
	Asia-16 total	1,263	100.0%	19,199	100.0%	15%

Table 10 Peruvian exports to the Asia-Pacific region in 2000 and 2019 (in millions of US\$ and share %)

Note: Ordered by the column "2019".

Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 11
Sectoral composition of Peruvian exports to Asia-Pacific in 2000 and 2019
(in millions of US\$ and share %)

Sector	2000	Share (2000)	2019	Share (2019)
TOTAL EXPORTS	1,263	100.0%	19,199	100.0%
Total traditional	1,121	88.8%	17,478	91.0%
Mining	440	34.8%	15,209	79.2%
Fishing	593	47.0%	1,461	7.6%
Oil and natural gas	71	5.6%	754	3.9%
Agriculture	17	1.3%	55	0.3%
Total non-traditional	142	11.2%	1,720	9.0%
Fishing	44	3.5%	790	4.1%
Livestock and agro industries	13	1.1%	638	3.3%
Timber	3	0.3%	60	0.3%
Steelmaking and metallurgy	27	2.2%	58	0.3%
Chemical	6	0.5%	52	0.3%
Textile	36	2.8%	35	0.2%
Garments	7	0.5%	32	0.2%
Non-metal mining	2	0.1%	25	0.1%
Metalworking	1	0.1%	14	0.1%
Others	2	0.1%	17	0.1%

Note: Ordered by column "2019". Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 12Peruvian mining exports, copper and its main products in 2000 and 2019<br/>(in millions of US\$ and share %)

	2000	World share (2000)	Asia-16 share (2000)	2019	World share (2019)	Asia-16 share (2019)
World	3,209			26,494		
Copper	930			13,948		
Concentrated	141			12,192		
Cathodes	739			1,620		
Anodes	0			84		
Asia-16	440	14%		15,211	57%	
Copper	110	12%		11,693	84%	
Concentrated	68	49%		10,481	86%	
Cathodes	40	5%		1,092	67%	
Anodes	0	0%		81	96%	
P.R. China	86	3%	19%	11,642	44%	77%
Copper	43	5%	39%	9,318	67%	80%
Concentrated	32	23%	47%	8,318	68%	79%
Cathodes	10	1%	24%	952	59%	87%
Anodes	0	0%	0%	46	55%	57%

Note: The column "World Share" shows the share of Asia-16 and the People's Republic of China in the total exports to the world. The column "Asia-16 Share" presents the Chinese share in the total exported to that group. The Table is ordered by column "2019." Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 13

Sectoral composition of Peruvian	exports to the People's Republic of China
in 2000 and 2019 (in	millions of US\$ and share %)

Sector	2000	Share (2000)	2019	Share (2019)
TOTAL EXPORTS	443	100.0%	13,546	100.0%
Total traditional	417	94.2%	12,934	95.5%
Mining	86	19.4%	11,642	85.9%
Fishing	330	74.6%	1,167	8.6%
Oil and natural gas	0	0.0%	121	0.9%
Agriculture	1	0.3%	4	0.0%
Total non-traditional	25	5.8%	611	4.5%
Fishing	0	0.1%	314	2.3%
Livestock and agro industries	0	0.0%	192	1.4%
Timber	1	0.2%	51	0.4%
Textile	22	4.9%	21	0.2%
Chemical	0	0.1%	20	0.2%
Garments	0	0.0%	5	0.0%
Steelmaking and metallurgy	2	0.4%	5	0.0%
Metalworking	0	0.1%	1	0.0%
Non-metal mining	0	0.0%	1	0.0%
Others	0	0.0%	1	0.0%

Note: Ordered by column "2019". Source: Adex Data Trade (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 14 Trade agreements of Peru with economies in the Asia-Pacific region

Status	Trading partner	Entry into force
	Singapore	Aug-09
	P.R. China	Mar-10
In force	Republic of Korea	Aug-11
in force	Thailand (Protocols)	Dec-11
	Japan	Mar-12
	Australia	Feb-20
Signed	CPTPP (Australia, Chile, Mexico, Canada, New Zealand, Brunei, Malaysia, Japan, Singapore and Vietnam)	
Under negotiation	Pacific Alliance with Associated States (New Zealand, Australia, Canada and Singapore)	
	Upgrading with P.R. China	

Note: Consulted on March 31, 2020.

Source: Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism - MINCETUR (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 15Classification of Asia-16 economies and Peru according to income level in 2018(GNI per capita, Atlas method)

Economy	US\$	Classification
Singapore	58,770	
Australia	53,190	
Hong Kong, China	50,310	
Japan	41,340	High
New Zealand	40,820	пун
Brunei Darussalam	31,020	
Republic of Korea	30,600	
Chinese Taipei	25,501	
Malaysia	10,460	
Russia	10,230	
P.R. China	9,470	Upper middle
Thailand	6,610	
Peru	6,530	
Indonesia	3,840	
Philippines	3,830	Lower middle
Papua New Guinea	2,530	
Vietnam	2,400	

Note: In the case of Chinese Taipei, the source is APEC (2020), which is based on sources from that economy.

Source: World Bank (2020). Compiled for this study.

Table 16Global Competitiveness Index 2019: Positions of Asia-16 economiesand Peru in the global index

Economy	Position in the Global Index
Singapore	1
Hong Kong, China	3
Japan	5
Chinese Taipei	11
Republic of Korea	13
Australia	16
New Zealand	19
Malaysia	27
P.R. China	28
Thailand	40
Russia	43
Indonesia	50
Brunei Darussalam	56
Philippines	63
Peru	65
Vietnam	67

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 141 economies. Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

### Table 17 Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Infrastructure" pillar. Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking

Economy	Infrastructure
Singapore	1
Hong Kong, China	3
Japan	4
Republic of Korea	6
Chinese Taipei	16
Australia	29
Malaysia	35
P.R. China	36
New Zealand	46
Russia	50
Brunei Darussalam	58
Thailand	71
Indonesia	72
Vietnam	77
Peru	87
Philippines	96

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 141 economies. Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

Economy	Transportation
Singapore	1
Hong Kong, China	3
Japan	4
Republic of Korea	5
Chinese Taipei	13
P.R. China	24
Malaysia	28
Australia	38
Russia	49
Thailand	53
Indonesia	55
New Zealand	57
Vietnam	66
Brunei Darussalam	77
Peru	96
Philippines	102

## Table 18 Global Competitiveness Index 2019: Transportation by road, air and sea. Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking

Economy	Road transportation	
Singapore	1	
Republic of Korea	9	
Japan	20	
Australia	22	
P.R. China	24	
Hong Kong, China	30	
Chinese Taipei	33	
New Zealand	45	
Thailand	49	
Brunei Darussalam	58	
Russia	65	
Malaysia	85	
Indonesia	85	
Vietnam	103	
Peru	111	
Philippines	120	

Economy	Air transportation
Japan	1
Hong Kong, China	2
Singapore	3
Republic of Korea	7
Australia	9
Thailand	15
Indonesia	16
Malaysia	18
P.R. China	21
Chinese Taipei	22
Russia	24
New Zealand	37
Vietnam	39
Philippines	40
Peru	65
Brunei Darussalam	83

Economy	Sea transportation
Singapore	1
Hong Kong, China	3
Republic of Korea	4
Malaysia	6
P.R. China	11
Japan	13
Chinese Taipei	15
Vietnam	32
Indonesia	39
Russia	42
Thailand	44
Australia	48
Peru	52
New Zealand	56
Philippines	71
Brunei Darussalam	85

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 141 economies (road and air) and 108 (sea). Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

# Table 19Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Skills," "ICT Adoption" and "Innovation Capability" pillars.Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking

Economy	Skills
New Zealand	10
Australia	13
Singapore	19
Hong Kong, China	20
Chinese Taipei	23
Republic of Korea	27
Japan	28
Malaysia	30
Russia	54
Brunei Darussalam	59
P.R. China	64
Indonesia	65
Philippines	67
Thailand	73
Peru	81
Vietnam	93

Economy	ICT Adoption	
Republic of Korea	1	
Hong Kong, China	3	
Singapore	5	
Japan	6	
Chinese Taipei 11		
P.R. China 18		
New Zealand	21	
Russia	22	
Brunei Darussalam	26	
Australia	29	
Malaysia	33	
Vietnam	41	
Thailand	62	
Indonesia	71	
Philippines	88	
Peru	98	

Economy	Innovation Capability	
Chinese Taipei	4	
Republic of Korea	5	
Japan	7	
Singapore	13	
Australia	18	
P.R. China	24	
Hong Kong, China	26	
New Zealand	27	
Malaysia	30	
Russia	32	
Thailand	50	
Brunei Darussalam	51	
Philippines	71	
Indonesia	74	
Vietnam	76	
Peru	90	

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 141 economies. Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

# Table 20Global Competitiveness Index 2019: "Macroeconomic Stability," "Institutions" and "Business Dynamism"Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking

Economy	Macroeconomic Stability	
Hong Kong, China	1	
Chinese Taipei	1	
Republic of Korea	1	
Australia	1	
New Zealand	1	
Malaysia	1	
Peru	1	
Singapore	38	
P.R. China	39	
Japan	42	
Thailand	43	
Russia	43	
Indonesia	43	
Philippines	43	
Vietnam	64	
Brunei Darussalam	85	

Economy	Institutions	
Singapore	2	
New Zealand	3	
Hong Kong, China	5	
Australia	17	
Japan	19	
Chinese Taipei	24	
Malaysia	24	
Republic of Korea	26	
Brunei Darussalam	50	
Indonesia	51	
P.R. China	56	
Thailand	67	
Russia	74	
Philippines	87	
Vietnam	89	
Peru	94	

Economy	Business Dynamism
New Zealand	13
Singapore	14
Hong Kong, China	15
Australia	16
Japan 17	
Malaysia	18
Chinese Taipei	20
Thailand	21
Republic of Korea	25
Indonesia 29	
P.R. China	36
Philippines	43
Russia	53
Brunei Darussalam	62
Vietnam	89
Peru	96

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 141 economies. Source: Schwab (2019). Compiled for this study.

Economy	Position in the ranking
Japan	5
Singapore	7
Hong Kong, China	12
New Zealand	15
Australia	18
Republic of Korea	25
P.R. China	26
Chinese Taipei	27
Thailand	32
Vietnam	39
Malaysia	41
Indonesia	46
Philippines	60
Russia	75
Brunei Darussalam	80
Peru	83
Papua New Guinea	148

Table 21Logistic Performance Index 2018:Positions of Asia-16 economies and Peru in the ranking

Note: The position in the ranking is determined based on 160 economies. Source: World Bank (2018). Compiled for this study.

Table 22	
Labor productivity: levels in 7	1990 and 2018
(in constant 2011 PPF	odlars)

Economy	1990	2018
Singapore	81,337	153,412
Brunei Darussalam	199,059	143,071
Hong Kong, China	63,838	124,132
Chinese Taipei	43,078	109,451
Australia	71,701	104,677
Japan	65,725	81,219
Republic of Korea	31,021	79,647
New Zealand	58,138	75,817
Malaysia	32,077	67,295
Russia	45,577	58,166
Thailand	13,548	34,870
P.R. China	3,055	32,718
Indonesia	11,860	28,037
Peru	15,645	27,094
Philippines	12,582	23,145
Vietnam	3,550	13,152
Papua New Guinea	5,251	12,721

Note: Productivity per person employed, or GDP per person employed, represents the GDP per unit of work. The output is measured as "value-added," which refers to the total production minus the value of intermediate goods. The data for Brunei Darussalam and Papua New Guinea was calculated by dividing GDP in constant 2011 PPP dollars (according to the World Bank) by the employment estimated by the World Labor Organization (retrieved from APEC, 2020). Source: Compiled for this study based on the Conference Board (2019) and APEC (2020).

### Annex 3: Maps

Map 1 Main maritime and land routes in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative



Note: Non-official Map.

Source: Adapted from Wong et al. (2017) based on Wikimedia Commons and PwC proprietary research. The port icon was retrieved from geotatah (www.flaticon.com) and includes modification. It also takes as a reference the project of the International Logistics course of Professor Lei Zhao of Tsinghua University.

Map 2 Original economic corridors of the Belt and Road Initiative



Note: Non-official Map. Wikimedia Commons marks AIIB and China members in orange in red. Corridor names are based on NDRC, MFA & MOFCOM (2015). Source: Wikimedia Commons



Map 3 Latin American countries participating in Belt and Road Initiative

Source: Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative (2020). Consulted on October 20, 2020. Prepared for this study.

Map 4 South America – Asia-Pacific connectivity: The potential role of Peru



Source: Adapted from Barceló (2010).

Map 5 Transcontinental digital connectivity



Note: Countries that have signed cooperation agreements in the framework of the Belt and Road Initiative have been identified based on the Office of the Leading Group for the Belt and Road Initiative (2020). Source: Telegeography (2019) and adapted from Huang (2017). Prepared for this study.

Map 6 Asia-16: Economies from Asia and Oceania in the Pacific Basin members of APEC



Note: Asia-16 is a group built for the purposes of the analysis of the present study. We use the names of the economies as they appear in APEC. Source: Prepared for this study.